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JAIIB Updated Syllabus 

Accounting & Finance for Bankers (Paper-2) 

Final Accounts (Module-C) 

Module C Final Accounts Balance Sheet 
Equation 

Balance Sheet Equation; Computation of 
Balance Sheet Equation. 

  Preparation of 
Final Accounts 

Preparation of Trading A/C; Profit and Loss 
A/C; 
Profit & Loss Appropriation Account; 
Balance Sheets 

  Ratio Analysis Meaning of Accounting Ratios; 
Classification of Ratios; Uses of Accounting 
Ratios; Limitations of Accounting Ratios; 
Calculation and interpretation of various 
Ratios; Different Users and their Use 
of Ratios. 

  Final Accounts of 
Banking 
Companies 

Definition and Functions of a Bank; 
Requirements of Banking Companies as to 
Accounts and Audit; Significant Features of 
Accounting Systems of Banks; Principal 
Books of Accounts; Preparation and 
Presentation of Financial Statements of 
Banks; CMA Format; Accounting Treatment 
of Specific Items; Preparation of Profit and 
Loss Account; Comments on Profit and Loss 
Account; Important Items of Balance Sheet; 
Disclosure Requirements of Banks; 
Additional Disclosures 
prescribed by RBI; Disclosures required 
under BASEL norms. 

  Company 
Accounts I & 
II 

Definition and Types of Companies; 
Distinction between Partnership and 
Limited Liability Company; Classes of Share 
Capital; Issue of Shares; General 
Illustrations 
Non-voting Shares; Form of Balance Sheet; 
Legal      Requirements      for      Assets;    
Legal 
Requirements for Liabilities; Legal 
Requirements 
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   for Profit & Loss A/c; Preparation of Final 
Accounts 

  Accounting in 
a 
Computerize
d 
Environment 

Meaning, Features of and Terms used in 
Computerized Accounting; Difference 
between Computerized and Manual 
Accounting; Advantages and Disadvantages 
of Computerized Accounting; Functions 
performed by Computerized Accounting 
Softwares available in the Market; 
Computerization – Scope and Experiences 
in Banking; The Core Banking Components; 
Information Security; Internet and 
World Wide Web – Influences on Banking 

 

Final Accounts (Module-C) 

Index 

Unit 1- Balance Sheet Equation 

Unit 2- Preparation of Final Accounts 

Unit 3- Ratio Analysis 

Unit 4- Final Accounts of Banking Companies 

Unit 5- Company Accounts I & II 

Unit 6- Accounting in a Computerized Environment 
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Balance Sheet Equation  

(Unit-1) 

What is the Balance Sheet Equation? 

The balance sheet equation or accounting equation is the most basic, fundamental part of 

accounting. The balance sheet equation forms the building blocks for the entire double 

entry accounting system. The balance sheet equation looks like this. 

 Assets = Liabilities + Equity. 

Liabilities= Assets- Equity 

Equity= Assets- Liabilities 
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Components of the Balance Sheet Equation 

There are three components of the balance sheet equation. They are: 

i)Assets 

ii)Liabilities 

iii)Owners’ Equity/Stockholders’ Equity 

Assets 

Assets are the resources owned by the company having a future economic benefit. Assets 

can be tangible like plant & machinery, cash etc. or intangible like goodwill, patent or 

trademark. Assets are resources that can be converted into cash. Assets are recorded at 

their monetary value in the balance sheet. 

Liabilities 

Liabilities are the present obligations of the company which arises from some past event 

and for settling these obligations the resources of the company is utilized. It is the amount a 

company is obliged to pay to the outsiders of the company. Liabilities include accounts 

payable, loan taken by the company, wages and salaries payable, 

– Owners’ Equity/ Stockholders’ Equity 

Equity shows the amount which is contributed or invested by the owner or the 

shareholders respectively into the business plus the income generated in the business 

which is not withdrawn by the owner or distributed to the shareholders. In financial terms, 

the income left with the company for its use is known as retained earnings and is added to 

the equity. When the enterprise is sole proprietorship we use the word owners’ equity as 

there is a single owner but when we talk about a corporation we use the word 

stockholders’ equity. When all the outside claims are added up to shareholders’ equity we 

get the amount equal to the total assets of the company. 

What Does Balance Sheet Equation Mean? 

In its most basic form, the balance sheet equation shows what a company owns, what a 

company owes, and what stake the owners have in the business. The equation starts off 

with the company assets. These are the resources that the company has to use in the future 

like cash, accounts receivable, and fixed assets. 

Example 

Most of the time, the company doesn’t own its assets outright. For instance, it might have a 

loan on the company car, a mortgage on the building, or even owe money to its 
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shareholders. That is why the second part of the balance sheet equation is made up of the 

claims on company assets. All of these claims on the company assets are separated into two 

categories: liabilities and equity. 

Liabilities are claims on the company assets by other firms or people. A bank loan or 

mortgage is a good example. The bank has a claim to the business building or land that is 

mortgaged. Liabilities are usually shown before equity in the balance sheet equation 

because liabilities must have to be repaid before owners’ claims. 

Equity on the other hand is the shareholders’ claims on the company assets. This is the 

amount of money shareholders contributed to the company for an ownership stake. Equity 

also includes retained earnings. Once all of the claims by outside companies and claims by 

shareholders are added up, they will always equal the total company assets. 

Advantages of Balance Sheet Equation 

 It helps to determine the credit on each and every debit in the books of accounts and 

vice versa. 

 It makes easier for the management to figure out the value of the third component 

of the accounting equation if the values of two other components are known. 

 The accuracy in the practice of accountancy is maintained by the accountants 

because of the accounting equation. 

 It helps the management to track errors occurred while preparing the financial 

statements. 

Disadvantages of the Balance Sheet Equation 

 The Balance sheet equation does not provide the detailed effect of the transaction. It 

only matches the debts with the credits but fails to specify the reasons for the same. 

 Balance sheet equation focuses only on the items of personal and real accounts not 

the items of nominal accounts. Nominal accounts include expenses and incomes of 
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the business and both expenses and incomes are not balance sheet items. So they 

are not a part of the accounting equation directly. 

 Balance sheet equation provides a basic understanding of the dual entry system of 

accounting but does not state the reason behind its use in accounting. 

 

 

Preparation of Final Accounts 

(Unit-2) 

Preparation of Trading A/C 

At the end of the financial year or at the end of the financial accounting period, an entity 

prepares the financial accounting statements to know the profit and loss and also the 

financial position of the business. These statements help users of financial accounting, 

information in decision making. In this article, we will see the steps of preparation of 

trading account. 

Financial Accounting Statements include –  

 A balance sheet 

 A trading and profit and loss account 

 Schedules and notes. 
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Preparation of Trading Account 

Trading account is the first step in the process of preparing final accounts. It helps in finding 
out the gross profit or gross loss during an accounting year, which is an important indicator of 
business efficiency. 

It is normally prepared by a merchandising concern which purchases and sells the goods 
during a particular period. 

The trading account shows the gross profit or gross loss during the accounting period. Trading 
account is based on matching the selling price of goods and services with the cost of goods 
sold and services rendered. 

 

Features of Trading Account 

1. It is the first stage in the preparation of financial accounting statement of a trading 
concern. 

2. It records only the net sales and direct cost of goods sold. 

3. The balance of this account discloses the gross profit and gross loss. 

4. We transfer the balance of the trading account to the profit and loss account. 

Contents of a Trading Account 
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Trading Account Statement include 

 Opening Stock 

 Purchases 

 Direct expenses 

 Gross profit 

Opening Stock 

In the case of trading concern, the opening stock means the finished goods only. We take the 
amount of opening stock from Trial Balance. 

Purchases 

The amount of purchases during the year includes cash as well as credit purchases. The 
deductions from purchases are purchase return, drawings of goods by the proprietor, 
distribution of goods as free samples, etc. 

Direct expenses 

It means all those expenses which are incurred from the time of purchases to making the 
goods in suitable condition. This expense includes freight inward, octroi, wages etc. 

Gross profit 

If the credit side of Trading A/c is greater than the debit side of Trading A/c gross profit will 
arise. 

The following are the items appearing in the credit side of Trading Account 

 Sales Revenue 

  Closing Stock 

  Gross Loss 

Sales Revenue 
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The sales revenue i.e. the income earned from the main business activity or activities. When 
goods or services are sold to customers then the income is earned. 

If there is any return, it should be deducted from the sales value. As per the accrual concept, 
income should be recognized as soon as it is accrued and not necessarily only when the cash is 
paid for. 

The Accounting standard 7 (in case of contracting business) and Accounting standard 9 (in 
other cases) define the guidelines for revenue recognition. 

The essence of the provisions of both standards is that revenue should be recognized only 
when significant risks and rewards (vaguely referred to as ownership in goods) are 
transferred to the customer. 

Example, if an invoice is made for the sale of goods and the term of sale is door delivery, and 
then recognition of sale can be done only on getting proof of delivery of goods at the door of 
the customer. 

And if such proof is pending at the end of the accounting period, then we can not treat this 
transaction as sales but will have to treat it as unearned income. 

 Closing Stock 

In the case of trading business, there will be closing stocks of finished goods only. According to 
the convention of conservatism, the stock is valued at cost or net realizable value whichever is 
lower. 

Gross Loss 

When the debit side of Trading A/c is greater than the credit side of Trading A/c, the gross 
loss will appear. 

 Format of Trading Account 

 A general format of the trading account is 

Trading Account for the year ended….. 
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Particulars Amount Particulars Amount 

Opening Stock:   Sales   

Finished goods   Less: Sales return   

Purchases   Closing stock   

Less: Purchase 

returns 
  Finished goods   

Direct 

expenses 
  Abnormal loss of stock   

Gross Profit 

(transferred to 

P&L A/c) 

  
Gross Loss (transferred to P&L 

A/c) 
  

Total   Total   
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 Question on the Preparation of Trading Account 

 Following are the ledger balances of M/s. Praveen Kumar as on 31st March 2018. 

Particulars Amount Particulars Amount 

Stock 

(1.4.2017) 
1,00,000 Sales 30,00,000 

Purchase 16,00,000 Return Inward 1,60,000 

Carriage 

Inwards 
1,00,000 Return Outward 1,00,000 

Wages 3,00,000 
Royalty on 

Production 
60,000 

Freight 80,000 Gas and Fuel 20,000 

Additional Information: 

(1) Stock on 31.3.2018: (i) Market Price ₹ 2,40,000; (ii) Cost Price ₹  2,00,000. 
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(2) Stock valued ₹  1,00,000 were destroyed by fire and insurance company admitted the 
claim to the extent of ₹  60,000. 

(3) Goods purchased for ₹  60,000 on 29th March 2018, but still lying in-transit, not at all 
recorded in the books. 

(4) Drawings of goods by the proprietor for his own use for ₹  30,000. 

(5) Outstanding wages amounted to ₹  40,000. 

(6) Freight was paid in advance for ₹  10,000. 

Ans: 

In the books of M/s. Praveen Kumar 

Trading Account 

For the year ended 31st March 2018 

Particulars Amount Particulars 

 

Amount 

To Opening 

Stock 
 

1,00,000 By Sales 30,00,000 

 

To 

Purchase 
16,00,000 

 

Less: 

Return 

Inward 

1,60,000 28,40,000 
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Less: 

Return 

Outward 

1,00,000 

 

By Closing 

Stock 
2,00,000 

 

 

15,00,000 

 

Add: Stock 

Destroyed 
1,00,000 

 

Less: Goods 

were taken 

by 

Proprietor 

30,000 

    

 

14,70,000 

 

Add: 

Goods-in-

Transit 

60,000 3,60,000 

Add: Goods-

in-transit 
60,000 15,30,000 

   

To Wages 3,00,000 

    

Add: 

Outstanding 
40,000 3,40,000 
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To Carriage 

Inwards 
 

1,00,000 

   

To Freight 80,000 

    

Less: 

Prepaid 
10,000 70,000 

   

To Gas & 

Fuel 
 

60,000 

   

To Profit & 

Loss A/c 

(Gross 

Profit 

transferred) 
 

10,00,000 

   

  

32,00,000 

  

32,00,000 

  

Note: 

(a) The stock should be valued as per cost price or market price whichever is lower. 
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(b) The claim which was admitted by the insurance company and the loss of stock, will not 
appear in Trading Account. 

Profit and Loss Account 

What is the Profit and Loss Account? 

The profit and loss account is opened by recording the gross profit on the credit side or 

gross loss on the debit side. 

For earning the net profit, a businessman has to incur many more expenses in addition to 

the direct expenses. Those expenses are deducted from profit or added to a gross loss and 

thus, the resultant figure will be net profit or a net loss. 

Expenses included in the profit and loss account are Selling and distribution expenses, 

Freight & carriage on sales, Sales tax, Administrative Expenses, Financial Expenses, 

Maintenance, depreciation and Provisions and more. On the credit side, Discount received, 

Commission received, Profit on sale of assets and more appear. 

Closing entries for Net Profit/Loss 

In case of a net profit: 

Profit and Loss A/c -Dr. 

To Capital A/c 

And, in the case of net loss: 

Capital A/c -Dr. 

To Profit and Loss A/c 

Solved Question for You 

Question: The following trial balance has been taken out from the books of XYZ as on 31st 
December 2009. 
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Particulars Dr. Cr. 

Plant and Machinery 100,000  

Opening stock 60,000  

Purchases 160,000  

Building 170,000  

Carriage inward 3,400  

Carriage outward 5,000  

Wages  32,000  

Sundry debtors 100,000  

Salaries 24,000  

Furniture 36,000  

Trade expense 12,000  

Discount on sales 1,900  

Advertisement 5,000  

Bad debts 1,800  
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Drawings 10,000  

Bills receivable 50,000  

Insurance 4,400  

Bank balances 20,000  

Sales  480,000 

Interest received  2,000 

Sundry creditors  40,000 

Bank loan  100,000 

Discount on purchases  2,000 

Capital  171,500 

 795,500 795,500 

Closing stock is valued at INR 90,000. Prepare the trading and profit and loss account of 
the business for the year ended 31.12.2009 and a balance sheet as at that date. 

Solution: 

XYZ 
Trading and Profit and Loss Account 

For the year ended 31st, December 2009 
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 Particulars  Amt Amt Particulars Amt Amt 

Opening stock  60,000 Sales 480,000  

Purchases 160,000  Less discount 1,900 478,100 

Less discount 2,000 158,000    

   Closing stock  90,000 

Carriage inward  3,400    

Wages  32,000    

Gross profit (transferred 

to P&L) 

 314,700    

  568,100   568,000 

Carriage outward  5,000 Gross profit 

(transferred to 

P&L) 

 314,700 

Salaries  24,000 Interest received  2,000 

Trade expenses  12,000    

Advertisement  5,000    

Bad debts  1,800    
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Insurance   4,400    

Net profit (transferred to 

capital) 

 264,500    

  316,700   316,700 

  

 

Profit and Loss Appropriation Account 

Profits are an important part of a business so as its allocation. That is why the Profit and 

Loss Appropriation Account is an important part of an organization. Profit and Loss 

Appropriation Account is necessary for businesses, especially partnerships because they 

help to allocate the net of expenditures and incomes among the various partners. Now let’s 

discuss various facts about the Profit and Loss Appropriation A/c. 

Meaning of Profit and Loss Appropriation Account 

It is a special account that a firm prepares to show the distribution of profits/losses among 

the partners or partner’s capital. 

This account should not be confused with the typical Profit and Loss Account but rather 

seen as an extension of it as it is made after making the Profit and Loss Account. 

Purpose 

Overall the firm uses it to show the allocation and distribution of Net Profit among the 

partners, reserves, and dividends. 

Creators 

A partnership form of business organizations creates such kind of special account. Moreover, 
the Partnership Deed plays a very important role in deciding the various rates and amounts. 

Time of Creation 
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A firm prepares it after the preparation of profit and loss account at the end of every Financial 
Year, in short on 31st March every year. It is prepared just like many other ledger accounts. 

Debit Items 

 It’s Debit items include: 

1. Net Loss transferred from P&L account, 

2. Transfer of profit to Reserves, 

3. Salary to Partners, 

4. Interest on Capital, 

5. Commission to Partners, 

6. Payments designated for dividend payments. 

Credit Items 

It’s Credit items include: 

1. Net Profit Transferred to the account from the Profit and Loss Account, 

2. Money was taken out from the general reserve, 

3. Drawing by the partners and the interest thereupon. 

Format of Profit and Loss Appropriation Account 

Profit and Loss Appropriation A/c 
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Date Particulars Amount Date Particulars Amount 

 

To Interest On 

CapitalA/c 
  

By Profit And 

Loss A/c (Profit 

transferred from 

P&L A/c)  

 

To Partner’s 

Salary A/c 
  

By Interest on 

Drawings A/c 
 

 

To Reserves A/c 

    

 

To Partner’s 

Commission A/c 
    

 

To Profit 

transferred to 

Partner’s 

Capital/Current 

Account 
    

Charge v/s Appropriation 
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Charge Appropriation 

Charge against profit means 

the deduction of any 

amount from the firm’s 

revenue to reach Net Profit 

or Loss. 

Appropriation of Profit is 

the distribution of Profit 

Hence, the Profit and Loss 

Account is prepared. 

Hence, the Profit and Loss 

Appropriation Account is 

prepared. 

Balance of Profit and Loss Appropriation Account 

The balance of the account (Credit – Debit) is transferred as the remaining profit either to the 
Capital accounts or to the Current accounts of the partners in their respective pre-decided 
profit distribution ratio or shares. 

But in the case of deficiency of profits, adjust the allocation of profits to salary, commission, 
etc.  keeping in view the availability of profit. 

Example on Profit and Loss Appropriation Account 

1. There are 2 Partners in a firm A and B 

A’s Drawings = Rs.10000 and B’s Drawings = Rs.12000 

Interest on Drawings = 10% p.a. 
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In such of a question, the firm will show the interest on drawings  on the credit side of the 
Profit and Loss Appropriation Account as follows: 

Profit and Loss Appropriation A/c 

Date Particulars Amount Date Particulars Amount 

    

By Interest on 

drawings A/c  

(A) 

1000 

    

By Interest on 

drawings A/c  

(B) 

1200 

  

2. There are 2 Partners in a firm. 

According to the firm, A will get Rs.1000 as Salary per month 

Whereas B will get Rs.1200 per month as Commission 

Hence, in such kind of question, the Debit side of the account will represent the items as: 

Profit and Loss Appropriation A/c 
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Date Particulars Amount Date Particulars Amount 

 

To A’s Salary 

A/c 
12000 

   

 

To B’s 

Commission 

A/c 

18000 

   

Balance sheet 

The purpose of the balance sheet is to provide an idea of a company’s financial position. It 

does so by outlining the total assets that a company owns and any amounts that it owes to 

lenders or banks, for example, as well as the amount of equity. 

A standard company balance sheet has three parts: assets, liabilities, and owner’s equity or 

capital. 

For larger limited companies, a balance sheet must be filed once a year as part of the 

company's statutory accounts. 

How the balance sheet works 

The balance sheet has two sides that must be equal or balance each other out. The logic 

behind it is more simple than it seems: a company must pay for its assets by borrowing 

money from lenders or through investors. 

For example: 

If Tom’s company takes out a £5,000 loan from the bank, the assets would increase by 

£5,000, but the liabilities would also increase by £5,000, which effectively balances the 

accounts. 

So, the formula behind the balance sheet is: 
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Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Equity 

The balance sheet provides a snapshot of a company’s accounts at a given point in time. 

The balance sheet, along with the income and cash flow statement, is an important tool for 

owners but also for investors because it is used to gain insight into a company and its 

financial operations. 

It is important that investors understand how to use, analyse, and read the document. 

Assets 

An asset is anything of value that a company owns. This includes cash, property and 

equipment, inventory, accounts receivables and more. An asset is something that can be 

converted to cash value. 

In the balance sheet, the total value of assets represents an important part of the equation. 

Assets are an indication of a company’s holdings and contribute to overall value. 

 

Liabilities 

A liability is an amount that a company owes. Typically, a liability involves money 
borrowed in order to support business activities, so can also include accounts payable and 
general debt. 

In the balance sheet, the total liabilities is the total money owed, whether to a lender, bank, 
or supplier. In relation to the assets, it provides an idea of how stable a business is, as well 
as whether accounts are overdue. 
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Owner’s Equity 

Owner’s equity refers to the money that can be considered the net assets. It is the assets 
minus the liabilities. Any remaining value in assets can be attributed to owner’s equity. 

 

Why the balance sheet is important 

The data displayed on the balance sheet provides a business with a better idea of the 
financial state of the business in the given time period. Questions about liquidity and 
efficiency are two of the more common aspects of a business revealed in the balance sheet. 

 Liquidity: liquidity is generally more thoroughly measured by applying one or more 
ratios to produce a percentage that can easily be compared against previous, future, and 
market percentages. The ratios most commonly used are the current ratio and the quick 
ratio. 

 Efficiency: efficiency seems fairly straightforward as it involves how well a business 
is managing its assets including working capital. This provides a better idea of the financial 
efficiency on a day-to-day basis for the given time period. 
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The balance sheet can also provide insight into a business's leverage, which can illustrate 
the amount of risk being taken, as well as the returns, such as returns on investment (ROI). 

Understanding a balance sheet 

While it may seem intimidating for those unfamiliar with accounting practices, the balance 
sheet is easily interpreted, especially for small businesses that have fewer entries as 
compared to a large corporation, for example. 

While one balance sheet on its own only provides information about the period selected, it 
can be useful to compare it to balance sheets from previous periods as well as calculate 
ratios mentioned above to compare across these financial periods. In addition, it can be 
compared with other businesses in order to gain an understanding of how a business 
stands in a particular industry. 

It's useful to view the balance sheet in combination with the other important financial 
reports such as the profit & loss statement and the VAT report (if applicable). 

Balance sheet and Debitoor 

Thankfully, modern invoicing and accounting software makes balancing your assets, 
liabilities and owner’s equity a bit easier. With Debitoor, you can view your balance sheet, 
which automatically updates when you enter new details, at any given time and select the 
time frame. 

No longer do you need to spend time painstakingly combing through a spreadsheet. The 
balance sheet gathers and provides the information regarding your accounts. All you need 
to do is keep them up to date! 

Ratio Analysis 

(Unit-3) 

Once the financial statements of an organization are prepared they then need to be 

analyzed. One such tool to analyze and asses the financial situation of a firm is Ratio 

Analysis. It allows the stakeholder to make better sense of the accounts and better 

understand the current fiscal scenario of an entity. Let us take an in-detail look at ratio 

analysis. 
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Meaning of Ratio Analysis 

Now, we have previously learned what ratios are. They are a comparison of two numbers 

with respect to each other. Similarly, in finance, ratios are a correlation between two 

numbers, or rather two accounts. So two numbers derived from the financial statement are 

compared to give us a more clear understanding of them. This is an accounting ratio. 

 

Let us take an example. The income for the year from operations is let us say 1,00,000/- for 

a given year. The Purchases and other direct expenses cost around 75,000/-. So the Gross 

Profit of the year is 25,000/-. Now it can be said that the Gross Profit is 25% of the 

Operations Revenue. We calculate this as 

G.P. Ratio = GPSales/Revenue ×100 
G.P.Ratio = 25,0001,00,000 ×100 

G.P. Ratio = 25% 

One factor to be kept in mind is that ratio analysis is used only to compare numbers that 

make sense and give us a better understanding of the financial statement. Comparing 

random financial accounts should be avoided. 

Objectives of Ratio Analysis 

Interpreting the financial statements and other financial data is essential for all 

stakeholders of an entity. Ratio Analysis hence becomes a vital tool for financial analysis 

and financial management. Let us take a look at some objectives that ratio analysis fulfils. 

 Measure of Profitability 

Profit is the ultimate aim of every organization. So if I say that ABC firm earned a profit of 5 

lakhs last year, how will you determine if that is a good or bad figure? Context is required 

to measure profitability, which is provided by ratio analysis. Gross Profit Ratios, Net Profit 

Ratio, Expense ratio etc provide a measure of the profitability of a firm. The management 

can use such ratios to find out problem areas and improve upon them. 

Evaluation of Operational Efficiency 

Certain ratios highlight the degree of efficiency of a company in the management of its 

assets and other resources. It is important that assets and financial resources be allocated 

and used efficiently to avoid unnecessary expenses. Turnover Ratios and Efficiency Ratios 

will point out any mismanagement of assets. 
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 Ensure Suitable Liquidity 

Every firm has to ensure that some of its assets are liquid, in case it requires cash 

immediately. So the liquidity of a firm is measured by ratios such as Current ratio and 

Quick Ratio. These help a firm maintain the required level of short-term solvency. 

Overall Financial Strength 

There are some ratios that help determine the firm’s long-term solvency. They help 

determine if there is a strain on the assets of a firm or if the firm is over-leveraged. The 

management will need to quickly rectify the situation to avoid liquidation in the future. 

Examples of such ratios are Debt-Equity Ratio, Leverage ratios etc. 

Comparison 

The organizations’ ratios must be compared to the industry standards to get a better 

understanding of its financial health and fiscal position. The management can take 

corrective action if the standards of the market are not met by the company. The ratios can 

also be compared to the previous years’ ratio’s to see the progress of the company. This is 

known as trend analysis. 

Advantages of Ratio Analysis 

When employed correctly, ratio analysis throws light on many problems of the firm and 

also highlights some positives. Ratios are essentially whistleblowers, they draw the 

managements attention towards issues needing attention. Let us take a look at some 

advantages of ratio analysis. 

 Ratio analysis will help validate or disprove the financing, investment and operating 
decisions of the firm. They summarize the financial statement into comparative figures, 
thus helping the management to compare and evaluate the financial position of the firm 
and the results of their decisions. 

 It simplifies complex accounting statements and financial data into simple ratios of 
operating efficiency, financial efficiency, solvency, long-term positions etc. 

 Ratio analysis help identify problem areas and bring the attention of the 
management to such areas. Some of the information is lost in the complex accounting 
statements, and ratios will help pinpoint such problems. 

 Allows the company to conduct comparisons with other firms, industry standards, 
intra-firm comparisons etc. This will help the organization better understand its fiscal 
position in the economy. 
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Limitations of Ratio Analysis 

While ratios are very important tools of financial analysis, they d have some limitations, such 
as 

 The firm can make some year-end changes to their financial statements, to improve 
their ratios. Then the ratios end up being nothing but window dressing. 

 Ratios ignore the price level changes due to inflation. Many ratios are calculated using 
historical costs, and they overlook the changes in price level between the periods. This 
does not reflect the correct financial situation. 

 Accounting ratios completely ignore the qualitative aspects of the firm. They only take 
into consideration the monetary aspects (quantitative) 

 There are no standard definitions of the ratios. So firms may be using different 
formulas for the ratios. One such example is Current Ratio, where some firms take into 
consideration all current liabilities but others ignore bank overdrafts from current 
liabilities while calculating current ratio 

 And finally, accounting ratios do not resolve any financial problems of the company. 
They are a means to the end, not the actual solution. 

 

Types of Ratios 

There are actually two ways in which financial ratios can be classified. There is the classical 
approach, where ratios are classified on the basis of the accounting statement from where 
they are obtained. The other is a more functional classification, based on the uses of the ratios 
and the purpose for which they are calculated. 

Traditional Classification 

Traditional Classification has three types of ratios, namely 

i. Profit and Loss Ratios 

ii. Balance Sheet Ratios 

iii. Composite Ratios 

1] Profit and Loss Ratios 
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When both figures are derived from the statement of Profit and Loss A/c we will call it a Profit 
and Loss Ratio. It can also be known as Income Statement Ratio or Revenue Statement Ratio. 
One such example is the Gross Profit ratio, which is the ratio of Gross Profit to Sales or 
Revenue. As you will notice, both these amounts will be derived from the Profit and Loss A/c. 
Other examples include Operating ratio, Net Profit ratio, Stock Turnover Ratio etc. 

2] Balance Sheet Ratios 

Just as above, if both the variables are obtained from the balance sheets, it is known as 
a balance sheet ratio. When such a ratio expresses the relation between two accounts of the 
balance sheet, we also call them financial ratios (other than accounting ratios). 

Take for example Current ratio that compares current assets to current liabilities, both 
derived from the balance sheet. Other examples include Quick Ratio, Capital Gearing Ratio, 
Debt-Equity ratio etc. 

3] Composite Ratios 

A composite ratio or combined ratio compares two variables from two different accounts. One 
is taken from the Profit and Loss A/c and the other from the Balance Sheet. For example the 
ratio of Return on Capital Employed. The profit (return) figure will be obtained from the 
Income Statement and the Capital Employed is seen in the Balance Sheet. A few other 
examples are Debtors Turnover Ratio, Creditors Turnover ratio, Earnings Per Share etc. 

[B] Functional Classification 

Then we move onto the functional classification. These help us group the ratios according to 
the functions they perform in our understanding and analysis of financial statements. This is a 
more accurate and useful classification of ratios, and hence more commonly used as well. The 
types of ratios according to the functional classification are 

 Liquidity Ratio 

 Leverage Ratios 

 Activity Ratios 

 Profitability Ratios 
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 Liquidity Ratio 

Liquidity ratio helps in measuring the cash sufficiency of an enterprise to pay off its short-
term liabilities. A High liquidity ratio ensures the company is in a good position to pay its 
creditors. The liquid ratio of 2 or more is considered acceptable. Listed below are some of 
the commonly used liquidity ratios: 

Sl.No Ratio 

Name 

Formula Used for Detail 

1 Current 

Ratio 

  

{(Current 
Assets)/(Current 
Liabilities)} 

1. One of the commonly 

used liquidity ratios is 

the current ratio which 

compares the current 

assets to current 

liabilities held by the 

business 

Current assets include 

cash, inventory, accounts 

receivable etc 

2. This ratio is used to 

check if the company 

will be able to pay its 

debts which are due in 

next 12 months 

Current liabilities include 

accounts payable, income 

tax payable and any other 

current liabilities 

2 Quick 

Ratio 

{(Quick 

Assets)/(Current 

Liabilities)} 

1. It is similar to current 

ratio except that this 

uses only quick assets 

which are easy to 

liquidate. 

To calculate the Quick 

assets, inventory and 

prepaid expenses which 

are difficult to liquidate 

are to be removed from 

the current assets. 

2. This is also known as 

Acid test 

3 Cash 

Ratio 

{(Cash + Marketable 

securities )/(Current 

Liabilities)} 

1. This ratio considers 

only those current 

assets which are 

immediately available to 

Only cash and marketable 

securities are considered 

for current assets. 
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the company to pay its 

debts. 

2. Business is 

considered as 

financially sound if it 

has a cash ratio of 1 or 

more. 

 Profitability Ratio 

Profitability ratio is generally used to determine how well the business is generating profits 
from its operations. Profit is the balance of income earned after deducting all related 
expenses. Given below are some of the commonly used profitability ratios: 

Sl.No Particular Formula Used for Detail 

1 Gross Profit 

Margin 

{(Revenue – Cost of 

Goods Sold 

(COGS))/(Revenue)} 

1. Higher the gross 

profit margin, more 

efficient is the 

business operation. 

Revenue is the sales 

income and COGS 

includes raw material, 

labour, and other 

production expenses 

 2. Gross Profit ratio is 

used to compare the 

business performance 

with its previous 

period or even with 

its competitors 

2 Operating 

Margin 

{(Gross Profits- 

Operating 

Expense)/(Revenue)} 

1. Unlike Gross profit 

ratio, this includes 

more expenses and 

hence it is used to 

ascertain companies 

profitability more 

efficiently 

From the gross profits, 

operating expenses such 

as selling and 

distribution cost, 

administration cost etc 

are deducted to arrive at 

operating margin 
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3 Profit 

Margin 

{(Revenue – 

Operating expense + 

non-operating 

income-Interest 

Expense- Income 

taxes)/(Revenue)} 

1. This ratio helps an 

investor to know how 

much profit is 

generated from the 

total revenue of the 

business 

As the formula itself 

explains, the profit 

margin is arrived from 

the revenue after 

adjusting all operating 

and non-operating 

expense and income 

2. The overall 

functional efficiency 

of an enterprise can 

be ascertained apart 

from its core business 

4 Earnings 

per Share 

(EPS) 

{(Net Income – 

Preferred 

Dividend)/(Weighted 

Average Outstanding 

Shares)} 

EPS is more 

important to 

shareholders since it 

helps in determining 

the return on 

investment 

Generally weighted 

average Outstanding 

shares are used since 

outstanding shares can 

change over time 

Higher the EPS, 

higher is the stock 

price of the company 

Sometime Diluted EPS 

are used which includes 

options, convertible 

securities and warrants 

outstanding which 

affects outstanding 

shares 

 Leverage Ratio 

Leverage ratio measures the utilization of borrowed money by the business. It helps to 
identify the financial stability of the business by analyzing the total debt of the company. 

Sl.No Particular Formula Used for Example 

1 Debt to {(Total 1. Business with Total Debt includes both long 
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Equity 

Ratio 

Debt)/(Total 

Equity)} 

high debt Equity 

ratio indicates that 

it is more 

dependent on debts 

for operation 

term and short term debts 

held by the company. 

2. This is also 

known as Gearing 

ratio which is used 

by Investors and 

Creditors to analyze 

the company’s 

financial leverage 

2 Debt to 

Asset Ratio 

{(Total 

Debt)/(Total 

Asset)} 

1. Debt to Asset 

ratio can be used to 

determine if the 

business will be 

able to pay all of its 

debts if the business 

is closed 

immediately 

It includes all the debt and 

assets of the company but 

there are different variations 

of this formula where only 

certain assets or specific 

liabilities are included 

2. A company 

having a debt to 

asset ratio of less 

than 1 is considered 

as good for 

investment. If the 

ratio is greater than 

1, the company is 

considered as highly 

leveraged 

3 Debt Ratio {(Total 

Liabilities)/(Total 

1. The liabilities to 

assets ratio is also 

known as solvency 

Total long-term debt and total 

assets (tangible and 

intangible) are reported on 
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Asset)} ratio indicates how 

much of a 

company’s assets 

are made of 

liabilities 

the balance sheet are 

considered 

2. A high liability to 

assets ratio 

indicates the 

business might face 

potential solvency 

issues 

4 Interest 

Coverage 

Ratio 

{(Earnings before 

interest and taxes 

(EBIT))/(Interest 

Expense)} 

1. This ratio is used 

to measure the 

company’s ability to 

meet its interest –

payment obligation 

Net Income before 

deducting interest and taxes 

by the 

company’s interest expense 

and taxes are considered as a 

percentage on interest 

expense 2. A higher ratio 

indicates a better 

financial position of 

the business 

 Activity Ratio / Efficiency Ratio 

Activity ratio indicates the return generated from a particular type of asset using the sales, 
cost and asset data. This ratio helps the business to identify effective utilization of the 
assets and thereby facilitates efficient management: 

Sl.No Particular Formula Used for Example 

1 Receivable 

Ratio 

{(Annual Sales 

Credit)/(Accounts 

Receivable)} 

1. Receivables 

Turnover ratio 

measures how soon 

the firms collect its 

For the ratio 

calculation, monthly 

average receivables 

and sales on credit 

terms are used 
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receivables generally 

2. A high receivable 

ratio indicates that the 

business sales 

collection process is 

working well 

Average collection 

period can be 

determined using this 

ratio 

2 Inventory 

Turnover 

Ratio 

{(Cost of Goods 

Sold)/(Average 

Inventory)} 

1. It is used to 

ascertain the rate at 

which the company’s 

inventory is converted 

to cash 

It is generally 

measured using 

inventory period which 

is the average 

inventory divided by 

average cost of goods is 

sold 2. A company with 

higher inventory ratio 

is considered to have 

an effective sales 

strategy 

3 Asset 

Turnover 

Ratio 

{(Net 

Revenue)/(Assets)} 

1. This ratio indicates 

the value of revenue as 

a percentage of the 

value of investment 

This can have different 

variants depending 

upon the asset category 

used for the calculation 

2. A higher ratio 

indicates better asset 

management and 

utilization by the 

business 

 

Calculation of various Ratios 
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Liquidity Ratios 

Also known as Solvency Ratios, and as the name indicates, it focuses on a company’s 
current assets and liabilities to assess if it can pay the short-term debts. The three common 
liquidity ratios used are current ratio, quick ratio, and burn rate. Among the three, current 
ratio comes in handy to analyze the liquidity and solvency of the start-ups. 

S. No. RATIOS FORMULAS 

1 Current Ratio Current Assets/Current Liabilities 

2 Quick Ratio Liquid Assets/Current Liabilities 

3 Absolute Liquid Ratio Absolute Liquid Assets/Current Liabilities 

Profitability Ratios 

These ratios analyze another key aspect of a company and that is how it uses its assets and 
how effectively it generates the profit from the assets and equities. This also then gives the 
analyst information on the effectiveness of the use of the company’s operations. 

S. 

No. 

RATIOS FORMULAS 

1 Gross Profit Ratio Gross Profit/Net Sales X 100 

2 Operating Cost Ratio Operating Cost/Net Sales X 100 
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3 Operating Profit ratio Operating Profit/Net Sales X 100 

4 Net Profit Ratio Operating Profit/Net Sales X 100 

5 Return on Investment 

Ratio 

Net Profit After Interest  And Taxes/ Shareholders 

Funds or Investments  X 100 

6 Return on Capital 

Employed Ratio 
Net Profit after Taxes/ Gross Capital Employed X 100 

7 Earnings Per Share Ratio Net Profit After Tax & Preference Dividend /No of 

Equity Shares 

8 Dividend Pay Out Ratio Dividend Per Equity Share/Earning Per Equity Share X 

100 

9 Earning Per Equity Share Net Profit after Tax & Preference Dividend / No. of 

Equity Share 

10 Dividend Yield Ratio Dividend Per Share/ Market Value Per Share X 100 

11 Price Earnings Ratio Market Price Per Share Equity Share/ Earning Per 

Share X 100 
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12 Net Profit to Net Worth 

Ratio 
Net Profit after Taxes / Shareholders Net Worth X 100 

Working Capital Ratios 

Like the Liquidity ratios, it also analyses if the company can pay off the current debts or 
liabilities using the current assets. This ratio is crucial for the creditors to establish the 
liquidity of a company, and how quickly a company converts its assets to bring in cash for 
resolving the debts. 

S. 

No. 

RATIOS FORMULAS 

1 Inventory Ratio Net Sales / Inventory 

2 Debtors Turnover Ratio Total Sales /  Account Receivables 

3 Debt Collection Ratio Receivables  x Months or days in a year / Net Credit 

Sales for the year 

4 Creditors Turnover Ratio Net Credit Purchases / Average Accounts Payable 

5 Average Payment Period Average Trade Creditors / Net Credit Purchases X 

100 

6 Working Capital Net Sales / Working Capital 
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Turnover Ratio 

7 Fixed Assets Turnover 

Ratio 
Cost of goods Sold / Total Fixed Assets 

8 Capital Turnover Ratio Cost of Sales / Capital Employed 

Capital Structure Ratios 

Each firm or company has capital or funds to finance its operations. These ratios, i.e., the 
Capital Structure Ratios, analyze how structurally a firm uses the capital or funds. 

S. No. RATIOS FORMULAS 

1 Debt Equity Ratio Total Long Term Debts / Shareholders Fund 

2 Proprietary Ratio Shareholders Fund/ Total Assets 

3 Capital Gearing ratio Equity Share Capital / Fixed Interest Bearing Funds 

4 Debt Service Ratio Net profit Before Interest & Taxes / Fixed Interest Charges 

Overall Profitability Ratio 

True to its name, these ratios measure how profitable a particular firm or company is, or 
how it can turn its assets and capital into profits for future use. 
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S. No. RATIOS FORMULAS 

1 Overall Profit Ability Ratio Net Profit / Total Assets 

 

Different Users and their Use of Ratios 

 

 

Final Accounts of Banking Companies 

(Unit-4) 

 

Definition and Functions of a Bank 
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Definition of a Bank 

A bank is a financial institution which performs the deposit and lending function. A bank 

allows a person with excess money (Saver) to deposit his money in the bank and earns an 

interest rate. Similarly, the bank lends to a person who needs money (investor/borrower) 

at an interest rate. Thus, the banks act as an intermediary between the saver and the 

borrower. 

The bank usually takes a deposit from the public at a much lower rate called deposit rate 

and lends the money to the borrower at a higher interest rate called lending rate. 

The difference between the deposit and lending rate is called ‘net interest spread’, and the 

interest spread constitutes the banks income. 

As per Section 5(c) of the Banking Regulation Act, 1949 a "Banking Company" means any 

company which transacts the business of banking in India. 

Explanation: Any company which is engaged in the manufacture of goods or carries on any 

trade and which accepts the deposits of money from public merely for the purpose of 

financing its business as such manufacturer or trader shall not be deemed to transact the 

business of banking within the meaning of this clause." 

As per Section 5(b) of the Banking Regulation Act, 1949 , "banking" means the accepting, 

for the purpose of lending or investment, of deposits of money from the public, repayable 

on demand or otherwise, and withdrawable by cheque, draft, order or otherwise. 

As per Section 5(d) of the Banking Regulation Act, 1949 , "company" means any company 

as defined in Section 3 of the Companies Act, 1956 and includes a foreign company within 

the meaning of Section 591 of that Act. 

As per section 51 of the Banking Regulation Act, 1949 , certain provisions of the Banking 

Regulation Act are also applicable to the State Bank of India , any corresponding new bank, 

a regional rural bank and any subsidiary bank. "Corresponding new bank" has been defined 

under clause(ee)of section 2 of the DICGC Act to mean a corresponding new bank 

constituted under the Banking Companies (Acquisition and Transfer of Undertakings ) Acts 

of 1970 or 1980. 

Functions of a Bank 
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The Primary Functions Of A Bank 

The primary functions of a bank are two: 

1. Accepting Deposits: Deposits are the amount of money that a customer hands over to the 
bank. This is known as making a deposit. The deposits are of a few types namely: Saving 
Deposit, Fixed Deposit, Current Deposit, and the Recurrent Deposit. The various deposit 
schemes are based on the type of deposit and the frequency of depositing. For example, in a 
fixed deposit a definite sum is handed over to the bank for a few years. The interest is only 
compounded if the deposit term is complete. Providing these services of the deposit is one of 
the primary functions of a bank. So what happens if you need money? Shouldn’t that also be a 
primary function of the bank? Well, let us see further. 

Saving/ Fixed/ Current Deposit 

In a saving deposit, the amount and the rate of interest are low. Withdrawals are also allowed 
but only in a limited number. The account is suitable for people who want to save on salaries 
and similar sources of income. 

Similarly, the fixed deposit is a fixed sum that one gives to the bank for a certain agreed time. 
The withdrawals are not allowed before the completion of the time of the fixed deposit. On the 
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other hand, the current account or deposit, there is no interest paid by the bank and the 
customer can withdraw or deposit any number of times. 

Now let us see the other secondary function: 

2. Granting Loans and Advances: The bank lends people money on a time-interest basis. 
Each loan amount is passed by the bank after due consideration and securing the bank’s 
profit. The bank also gives advances to its customers. These are also the primary functions of 
the banks. The bank provides the services of an overdraft, cash credits, loans, and discounting 
of the bill of exchange. 

The banks also take part in what we call the secondary functions of the bank. 

Secondary Functions Of The Bank 

The secondary functions of the Bank are either selling gold coins to the public or selling 
insurance products and selling mutual fund products etc. Let us make a more formal study. 
Following are the important secondary functions of the Banks: 

1. Agency Functions: The bank is an agent for its customers in a way that it invests on 
behalf of its customers. Acting as the agent of the customer the bank may transfer funds, 
the collection of cheques, periodic payments, portfolio management, periodic 
collections, and several other agency functions. All of these functions are the secondary 
functions of the bank. 

2. General Utility Functions: The bank also performs several utility functions. Some of 
the most important utility functions of the banks may include the issue of drafts, letter 
of credits, etc., locker facility, underwriting of shares, dealing in foreign exchange, 
project reports, social welfare programs, other utility functions. The banks also provide 
several services like the safe deposit locker facilities, safe custody facilities, and Demat 
accounts. The opening of Demat accounts allows the account holder to trade in the 
stock exchange or the money market directly. The customer that holds a Demat account 
can directly buy or sell shares from the capital market. 

The General Utility Functions are also called as Social development functions. In some areas, 
the banks will help you with all the transactions that you will have to do during a course of 
time. For example, you will be able to pay your phone, electricity and other utility bills from a 
center that is run by the banks. This sums up the functions of the banks. 
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Requirements of Banking Companies as to Accounts and Audit 

Section 29 in BANKING REGULATION ACT,1949 
 

Accounts and balance-sheet.— 

(1) At the expiration of each calendar year 1[or at the expiration of a period of twelve 

months ending with such date2 as the Central Government may, by notification in the 

Official Gazette, specify in this behalf,] every banking company incorporated 3[in India], in 

respect of all business transacted by it, and every banking company incorporated 4[outside 

India], in respect of all business transacted through its branches 3[in India], shall prepare 

with reference to 5[that year or period, as the case may be,] a balance-sheet and profit and 

loss account as on the last working day of 6[that year or the period, as the case may be,] in 

the Forms set out in the Third Schedule or as near thereto as circumstances admit: 

7[Provided that with a view to facilitating the transition from one period, of accounting to 

another period of accounting under this sub-section, the Central Government may, by order 

published in the Official Gazette, make such provisions as it considers necessary or 

expedient for the preparation of, or for other matters relating to, the balance sheet or profit 

and loss account in respect of the concerned year or period, as the case may be.] 

(2) The balance-sheet and profit and loss account shall be signed— 

(a) in the case of a banking company incorporated 3[in India], by the manager or the 

principal officer of the company and where there are more than three directors of the 

company, by at least three of those directors, or where there are not more than three 

directors, by all the directors, and 

(b) in the case of a banking company incorporated 4[outside India] by the manager or 

agent of the principal office of the company 3[in India]. 

(3) Notwithstanding that the balance-sheet of a banking company is under sub-section (1) 

required to be prepared in a form other than the form 3[set out in Part I of Schedule VI to 

the Companies Act, 1956 (1 of 1956)], the requirements of that relating to the balance-

sheet and profit and loss account of a company shall, in so far as they are not inconsistent 

with this Act, apply to the balance-sheet or profit and loss account, as the case may be, of a 

banking company. 9[(3A) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in sub-

section (3) of section 210 of the Companies Act, 1956 (1 of 1956), the period to which the 

profit and loss account relates shall, in the case of a banking company, be the period ending 

with the last working day of the year immediately preceding the year in which the annual 
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general meeting is held.] 10[Explanation.—In sub-section (3A), “year” means the year or, as 

the case may be, the period referred to in sub-section (1).] 

(4) The Central Government, after giving not less than three months’ notice of its intention 

so to do by a notification in the Official Gazette, may from time to time by a like notification 

amend the Form set out in the Third Schedule. 

Section 31 in BANKING REGULATION ACT,1949 
31. Submission of returns.—The accounts and balance-sheet referred to in section 29 

together with the auditor’s report shall be published in the prescribed manner and three 

copies thereof shall be furnished as returns to the Reserve Bank within three months from 

the end of the period to which they refer: Provided that the Reserve Bank may in any case 

extend the said period of three months for the furnishing of such returns by a further 

period not exceeding three months:  [Provided further that a regional rural bank shall 

furnish such returns also to the National Bank.] 

(3) In addition to the matters which under the aforesaid Act the auditor is required to state 

in his report, he shall, in the case of a banking company incorporated 7[in India], state in 

his report,— 

(a) whether or not the information and explanation required by him have been found to be 

satisfactory; 

(b) whether or not the transactions of the company which have come to his notice have 

been within the powers of the company; 

(c) whether or not the returns received from branch offices of the company have been 

found adequate for the purposes of his audit; 

(d) whether the profit and loss account shows a true balance 8[of profit or loss] for the 

period covered by such account; 

(e) any other matter which he considers should be brought to the notice of the 

shareholders of the company. 

Section 30 in BANKING REGULATION ACT,1949 
(1) The balance-sheet and profit and loss account prepared in accordance with section 29 

shall be audited by a person duly qualified under any law for the time being in force to be 

an auditor of companies.] 2[(1A) Notwithstanding anything contained in any law for the 

time being in force or in any contract to the contrary, every banking company shall, before 

appointing, re-appointing or removing any auditor or auditors, obtain the previous 

approval of the Reserve Bank. 
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(1B) Without prejudice to anything contained in the Companies Act, 1956 (1 of 1956), or 

any other law for the time being in force, where the Reserve Bank is of opinion that it is 

necessary in the public interest or in the interest of the banking company or its depositors 

so to do, 3[it may at any time by order direct that a special audit of the banking company’s 

accounts, for any such transaction or class of transactions or for such period or periods as 

may be specified in the order, shall be conducted and may by the same or a different order 

either appoint a person duly qualified under any law for the time being in force to be an 

auditor of companies or direct the auditor of the banking company himself to conduct such 

special audit] and the auditor shall comply with such directions and make a report of such 

audit to the Reserve Bank and forward a copy thereof to the company. 

(1C) The expenses of, or incidental to 4[the special audit] specified in the order made by 

the Reserve Bank shall be borne by the banking company.] 

(2) The auditor shall have the powers of, exercise the functions vested in, and discharge the 

duties and be subject to the liabilities and penalties imposed on, auditors of companies by 

5[section 227 of the Companies Act, 1956 (1 of 1956)] 6[, and auditors, if any, appointed by 

the law establishing, constituting or forming the banking company concerned]. 

 

Principal Books of Accounts 

General Ledger Account  

Ledger is a book that contains the accounts. Any financial statement related to the financial 

position of the company emerges only from the accounts. Thus, this ledger is known as the 

principal book. So, the result of all this is that it is necessary to relate all the information for 

any account available is from the ledger. This book of accounts is the most important book 

for any business and that is why it is known as the king of all books. Also, the ledger book is 

also known as the book of the final entry. The Ledger account is thought of the book that 

has all the accounting information of the company. 

Usually, a ledger account contains many things. Some of the things include dates, 

particulars, amount, and j.f. This specimen is standardized across all the different places in 

India. 

Anywhere you go, you will find this specimen only. Also, in ledger accounts, this specimen 

is used for writing the entries of the accounting. Furthermore, ledger accounts also include 

the ledger posting. 

Types of Ledger 

There are 3 types of Ledgers – 
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Sales Ledger 

Purchase Ledger 

General Ledger 

1. Sales Ledger – Sales Ledger is a ledger in which the company maintains the transaction 

of selling the products, services or cost of goods sold to customers. This ledger gives the 

idea of sales revenue and income statement. 

2. Purchase Ledger – Purchase Ledger is a ledger in which the company organizes the 

transaction of purchasing the services, products, or goods from other businesses. It gives 

the visibility of how much amount the company paid to other businesses. 

3. General Ledger – General Ledger is divided into two types – Nominal Ledger and 

Private Ledger. Nominal ledger gives information on expenses, income, depreciation, 

insurance, etc. And Private ledger gives private information like salaries, wages, capitals, 

etc. Private ledger is not accessible to everyone. 

Ledger Account Examples 

Assets 

 Cash 

 Land 

 Accounts receivable 

 Equipment 

Liabilities 

 Debt 

 Accounts Payable 

 Loans 

 Accrued expenses 

Stock 

 Stockholders Equity 
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 Common Stocks 

 Retained Earnings 

Operative Revenues 

 Sales 

 Services Fees 

Operating Expenses 

 Salaries and wages 

 Office Expenses 

 Depreciation Expense 
 

Ledger Account Format and Template 

 

Sample template of General Ledger Account – 
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Ledger Posting 

Whenever a transaction takes place it is denoted and recorded in the journal in the form of 

the journal entry. Furthermore, this entry is posted again in their respective journal 

accounts. 

This is done from the journal under the double entry principle. This is known as the ledger 

posting. There are some rules which you have to adhere to while writing the journal entries 

for the following accounts. 

Rules for writing Journal Entries in Ledger Account 

Liabilities: This decreases on the side of debt and increases on the credit side. 

Assets: In assets, the figure increases on the left side or you can say the debit side. While 

this decreases on the credit size or the right side. 
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Capitals: This follows the same rule as liabilities. 

Gains or Income: In this, there is a decrease on the debit side. Also, there is an increase in 

the credit side. 

Expenses: The expenses in the ledger decreases on the credit side while increases on the 

debit side. 

There are some rules that students should understand according to the nature of debit and 

credit. 

Debits and Credits 

Credit 

For properties and goods, the credit represents that the value and stock of goods and 

properties have decreased. This is moreover related to real accounts. 

In the case of different accounts like dividend or interest or commission received, or the 

discount to be gained, it is reported that the firm has made again. This is moreover related 

to the nominal account. 

Debit 

For goods or properties, the value and use of such goods have been increased. This is 

related to real accounts. 

Also, there is a case in which a person has received some benefit against some service given 

by him or will be rendered by him in the future. Thus, when a person is liable to do 

something for a firm, the fact is mentioned using that person’s account. This is moreover 

related to the personal account. 

For other accounts like expenses or losses, a certain expense has been incurred by the firm 

or has lost money. This can be related to the nominal account. 

Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements of Banks 

 

1. Balance Sheet is prepared in conformity with Form A of the Third Schedule to the 

Banking Regulation Act, 1949 and Profit and Loss Account in conformity with Form B ibid. 

They are prepared in accordance with provisions of Section 29 of the Banking Regulation 

Act read with Section 211 (10), (2), and 3 © of the Companies Act 1956. 
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 2. They are always prepared as on 31st March of every year. Listed Banks are required to 

publish Review financial results every quarter. But full fledged Profit and Loss Account and 

Balance Sheet are prepared as on 31st March every year by all the Banks. 

3. They contain 18 schedules as under : 

 Schedules forming part of Form A – Balance Sheet Schedule   -  

1  -  Capital Schedule    

2  -  Reserves & Surplus Schedule    

 3  -  Deposits Schedule    

4  -   Borrowings Schedule     

5  -   Other Liabilities and Provisions Schedule    

 6  -   Cash and balances with RBI Schedule     

7  -   Balances with Banks and money at call and short notice. Schedule    

 8  -   Investments Schedule    

 9  -   Advances. Schedule    

 10 -  Fixed Assets. Schedule    

11 -  Other Assets. Schedule    

12  - Contingent Liabilities / Bills for Collection.  

Schedules forming Part of Form B – Profit and Loss Account Schedule     

13 -  Interest Earned. Schedule    

 14  - Other Income. Schedule     

15 -  Interest Expended.  

16 -  Operating Expenses. Schedules forming Part of Annual Report Schedule   

17 -   Significant Accounting Policies. Schedule   

18  -  Notes forming part of accounts. 

 

Some of these Schedules viz., 1,2,4,8,17 and 18 are not required to be prepared by Bank’s 

branches. They are consolidated at Head office level. Schedule 1 to 5 form Liability Side of 

the Banks Balance Sheet and Schedule 6 to 12 on the Asset side of the Balance Sheet. The 
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Assets side of the Balance Sheet has been arranged in such a manner that liquid assets such 

as Cash, Balances with Banks and Investments are shown in that order. This enables the 

investor to quickly identify how much the Bank is liquid enough to meet its commitment 

towards its customers. This arrangement of Assets is from liquid to fixed assets in contrast 

to corporate balance sheets where the arrangement is from fixed to liquid. 

 

1. RBI mandated all banks to disclose the accounting policies regarding key areas of 

operation in Schedule 17 alongwith Note to Accounts in their financial statements. They 

include basis of Accounting, Transactions involving Foreign Exchange, Investments etc.  

2. RBI has also directed Banks to make 53 disclosures to enable the market participants to 

assess the key areas of performance of the Banks. In addition to 53 disclosures mandated 

by RBI, Banks are also required to comply with the Accounting Standard 1 (AS 1) on 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.  

3. The performance of Bank is assessed through calculation of various ratios such as CRAR, 

Gross NPA, Net NPA, NIM, Interest income as percentage to average working funds, Non 

interest income as percentage to average working funds, Operating profit as percentage to 

average working funds, Return on Assets, Business / Profit per employee, Provision 

Coverage Ratio, etc. whereas a Company’s strength is assessed through Current Ratio, ISCR, 

DER, DSCR etc. 

 4. Banks prepare two sets of financial statements (includes Balance Sheet and Profit and 

Loss Account), one containing the performance of the Bank through its Banking operations, 

both domestic and international and the other called consolidated Financial Statements 

containing the performance of the Bank of its Banking operations and subsidiary units, 

joint ventures and associates in accordance with AS 21, issued by ICAI on a line-by-line 

basis by adding together the like items of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure of the 

Bank. Sometimes, a standalone balance sheet may give a better picture of performance of 

the Bank than when consolidated business of the subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 

are combined, if they have less profit making subsidiaries. Investor is interested in 

consolidated financial statements as it is the position of the “Group”. Some banks having 

international branches may prepare financial statements in dollar terms also to meet the 

requirements of their overseas centres.  

5. They are prepared on the basis of “going concern approach” adhering to various 

accounting, disclosures prescribed by agencies like ICAI (Accounting Standards – GAAP), 

RBI (Banking Regulation Act, RBI Act), and Government of India. Banks are also required to 

prepare their financial statements based on International Financial Reporting Standards 

wef. 1.4.2013. 
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SCHEDULE 1 : CAPITAL & LIABILITIES :  

The Schedule gives details of Authorised, Issued, Subscribed and Paid up Capital of the 

Bank. Special mention should be made of capital held by Central Government. If calculated 

in percentage terms, it will give an idea of Central Government’s contribution to the Capital 

of the bank.  For example, as on 31.3.2012, Oriental Bank of Commerce’s paid up capital 

was Rs.291.76 Cr out of which Central Government holding was Rs. 169.22 Cr representing 

57.99 %. In the case of Bank of India, the paid up capital was Rs. 574.51 Cr out of which 

Central Government holding was Rs.359.88 Cr. representing 62.72 % . Investor can get an 

idea which bank’s share has velocity in the market and better traded. 

 

SCHEDULE 2 – RESERVES & SURPLUS:  

This schedule consists of Statutory Reserves, Capital Reserves (revaluation reserve), Share 

Premium, Revenue & Other Reserves. Statutory Reserve is created by transferring 25 % of 

net profit earned by the Bank every year. Capital Reserve consists of revaluation reserve 

created out of (1) revaluation of property of the Bank , (2) Profit on sale of investments, 

which are “Held to Maturity” (3) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve and (4) Special 

Reserve for Currency Swaps. These items of capital reserve are appropriated from Net 

Profit of the Bank. Share Premium is created from the premium collected by the Bank while 

issuing shares to the public. Revenue & other reserves are recreated by transferring 

balance of Net profit after making appropriations for Statutory, Capital Reserves, Dividend 

payment and Special Reserves. 

 

SCHEDULE  - 3  -  DEPOSITS:  

Deposits are mainly bifurcated into Demand Deposits (which includes Current Account 

Deposits, Sundry Deposits and Overdue Term / Time deposits), Savings Bank Deposits and 

Term Deposits. Sub-bifurcation in all these segments is Deposits from Banks and Others. It 

is now established that a bank should have higher percentage of Demand Deposits and 

Savings Bank Deposits (CASA Deposits) for better NIM (net interest margin). In the 

computerized environment, Branches should not have major chunk of Overdue Term 

Deposits in the Demand Deposits portfolio. It will also have an impact on the Assets and 

Liabilities Management of the Bank (ALM). As per the recent guidelines of Government of 

India, bulk deposits should not be more than 10 % of the total deposits. 

 

SCHEDULE – 4 – BORROWINGS :  

This schedule which is managed at Head Office level, consists of borrowing from RBI and 

other Banks. Borrowings from other Banks/other Institutions are mainly funds raised 
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under various instruments (Innovative Perpetual Debt Instruments, Subordinated debts, 

Unsecured non convertible redeemable bonds etc) which qualify for Tier I and II capital of 

the Bank. Schedules 1 (Capital), Schedule 2 (Reserves & Surplus) and Schedule 4 

(Borrowings) are relevant for calculation of Capital to Risk Weighted Asset Ratio (CRAR) as 

some balances under these schedules are considered for Calculation of CRAR. Some 

important points to be noted here for calculation of Capital Adequacy under Basel I and II 

guidelines are given below : (Basel III guidelines are still in discussion stage and hence are 

not considered here)  

1. Banks are required to maintain minimum capital of 9% on on-going basis for Credit Risk, 

Market Risk and Operational Risk. 

 2. The capital so calculated consists of Tier I and Tier II capital.  

3. Minimum Tier I capital should be 6% 

 4. 80% of minimum capital to be maintained under Basel I frame work. 

 5. Banks are required to declare the CRAR under Basel I and II frame works in their 

financial statements.  

6. Method of computing risk weights is different under Basel I and Basel II frame works. 

 

SCHEDULE 5 – OTHER LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS:  

The schedule mainly consists of Bills Payable (both inward and outward Bills for collection 

sent to upcountry banks/branches), Interest accrued, Contingent provisions against 

standard assets (banks are required to maintain provisions on Standard Assets @ 0.25 % to 

0.40% and in some cases 1%), Proposed Dividend and any other liabilities that have to be 

provided for. The above schedules 1 to 5 form Liabilities side of the Balance Sheet. The 

following schedules form part of Assets side of the Balance Sheet. 

 

SCHEDULE  6 – CASH AND BALANCES WITH RBI :  

Cash in Hand represents the cash held by branches of the Bank. All Branches are required 

to maintain cash within retention limit prescribed by the bank (normally 0.25% of 

deposits). Any amount beyond the limit should be transferred to RBI accounts so that the 

balances in RBI accounts qualify for CRR (Cash Reserve Ratio) calculations. Keeping excess 

cash is fraught with security issues, and the Bank will be losing interest / other benefits on 

idle component of the Cash held at branches. Balances with RBI qualify for CRR 

calculations. Excess amount over required CRR will qualify for SLR (Statutory Liquidity 

Ratio).  
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Branches should therefore maintain minimum cash with them. 

 

SCHEDULE – 7 – BALANCES WITH BANKS AND MONEY AT CALL AND SHORT NOTICE : 

Balances with Banks represent the balances maintained by branches with other Banks 

(such as SBI) for clearing purposes, etc. Any excess balance should be transferred to RBI 

account. Balances with banks do not earn any interest and also under Basel I frame work, 

Banks are required to calculate Risk weights @ 20% of such balances.  

Money at Call and Short Notice are entries created by Treasury of the Bank and hence 

should not reflect in individual branch balance sheets unless parked for any reason by the 

Bank. 

 

SCHEDULE – 8 – INVESTMENTS:  

Investments are bifurcated into six segments in Balance sheets, viz. i) Government 

Securities, ii) Other approved Securities,  iii) Shares, iv) Debentures and Bonds, v) 

Subsidiaries / joint ventures, vi) Others The Investments under Government Securities and 

Other Approved Securities qualify for SLR (Statutory Liquidity Ratio) calculations. 

Investments under Others include CDs/CPs etc.  

All investments are to be classified into Held to Maturity, Held for Trading and Available for 

Sale. Depending upon the classification of the investments into these categories valuation 

of investments has to be made as per RBI guidelines. The valuations will have a great 

bearing on the profit of the bank. 

SCHEDULE  9 – ADVANCES :  

There are three classifications under Advances, viz. first classification into Bills purchased 

and discounted, Cash Credit, Overdrafts and Loans repayable on demand (normally loans 

with repayment period less than 36 months) and Term Loans. This classification will 

enable the investor to know the liquidity of funds for the Bank and also how the interest 

streams are ensured. For example, if the balances  under Cash Credit, Overdraft etc are 

 more than Term Loans, the Bank’s liquidity position is good where as more balances in 

Term Loans show steady profit by way of interest earnings.  

Second classification is based on the security available in the loan portfolio. The 

classification is i) secured by tangible assets, ii) covered by Bank/Government Guarantee 

and iii) unsecured. Large amount of unsecured advances and / or increase over last may 

indicate the Bank’s vulnerability for credit risk. Third classification is, Advances under i) 

Priority Sector ii) Public Sector iii) Banks iv) Others. This classification is required as all 

banks are required to lend 40 % of their Advances under Priority Sector.  
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As of now, capital requirement for Credit Risk is higher than Capital requirement for 

Market Risk and Operational Risk. It is therefore necessary that while undertaking Credit 

Risk availability and costs of additional Capital requirement need to be looked into.  A 

realignment of portfolios and/ or securing assets with collaterals will enable reduce risk 

weights. For example, under Basel I frame work, all outstanding advances carry a risk 

weight of 100%, whereas under Basel II frame work, the risk weights vary from 20 % to 

150% depending upon corporate borrowers external rating, unsecured portfolios and 

similar activities.  

Under Basel I frame work, cash margins and deposits are eligible financial collaterals. For 

example, a borrower has been financed Rs.100 lakhs and there is a deposit of Rs. 10 lakhs 

as cash collateral, for the purpose of calculation of risk weights, the amount is Rs. 90 lakhs. 

Under Basel II frame work, not only cash collaterals, bonds, gold, debt mutual funds etc. are 

also considered as collateral for calculation of risk weights.  

Under Basel II frame work, risk weight for restructured advances is 125 % whereas under 

Basel I, it is 100%. If branches are able to understand the concept of risk weights for credit 

risk, they can ensure and properly account for all eligible securities as collaterals for 

calculation of risk weights, thus reducing the higher requirement of Capital. Further, the 

advances shown under this schedule are net of provisions. In other words, they only 

include performing portion of advances. 

 

SCHEDULE 10 – FIXED ASSETS AND SCHEDULE – 11 OTHER ASSETS:  

These schedules do not need much explanation. However, Branches are to be careful while 

calculating depreciation of these assets as it will have a direct bearing on the profit of the 

Bank. Many branches continue to hold unserviceable, irreparable furniture and redundant 

computer hardware items on their books. They should ensure to dispose of the same and 

properly account for only serviceable items. 

 

SCHEDULE – 12 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES:  

They mainly consists of Claims against the bank not acknowledge as debts, Liability on 

account of outstanding Forward Exchange Contracts, Derivative Contracts, Guarantees 

Issued etc. Notes to accounts should be referred to for any disputed liabilities that are 

hampering the profit of the bank in case the contingent liabilities turn out to be funded 

liabilities. At branches, bifurcation of guarantees into Financial and Performance should be 

done correctly as they carry different risk weights for CRAR calculation. 

 Any cash collaterals available in the guarantees should be properly reduced from the 

outstanding amounts for CRAR calculations. The liability in respect of expired guarantees 

should be reversed immediately following the guidelines of their Banks. 
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SCHEDULE 13 – INTEREST EARNED, SCHEDULE – 14 – OTHER INCOME, SCHEDULE 15 

– INTEREST EXPENDED AND SCHEDULE 16 – OPERATING EXPENSES : 

 These schedules form FORM-B of Financial Statements. They are profit and loss statements 

of the Bank. 

 

SCHEDULE – 17 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES :  

This schedule discusses various accounting policies adopted by the Bank in preparing the 

financial statements. The schedule mainly should be looked into to check whether Bank has 

made any changes in the accounting procedures which may have bearing on the profit and 

loss of the Bank. 

 

SCHEDULE 18 – NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS : 

 RBI mandated all banks to make 53 specific disclosures in respect of preparation of 

financial statements. One must go through these disclosures to really understand the SWOT 

(STRENGTH, WEAKNESS, OPPORTUNITY, THREATS) of the Bank. Depending upon the 

market analysis and requirements, RBI advises the Banks to make more disclosures in their 

Financial Statements.  

This schedule forms crux of the strength of the Financial statements. Financial Statements 

reflect outstanding balances in the books of the Bank on a given date. This schedule 

disseminates important information about the balances reflected in each schedule. 

CMA DATA PREPARATION FOR BANK LOAN 

CMA DATA MEANING: 

Full form of CMA data is Credit Monitoring Arrangement data. It is the report to be 

presented to bank to show your past financial history, current financial position and future 

financial planning. It covers 7 statements related to finance. 

 WHY DOES BANK REQUIRE CMA REPORT? 

We all know that banks are require to follow RBI guidelines to run finance business. RBI 

suggests not to only rely on CMA data for granting loan. Still almost all banks are asking for 

CMA data. Even for small loans like 4 lakhs to 6 Lakhs submitting CMA report is required. 

The reason is that by analyzing it, banks can understand the flow of funds ( Past and 

proposed) of borrower and viability of projects. 
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WHAT REPORTS ARE COVERED ? 

It covers following statements: 

Details of existing and proposed fund limit: In this report, details about your current 

financial condition, borrowed fund and proposed fund are covered.If the business is new, 

proposed data is required to be given. 

Operating statement: You are required to show past 2 years and future 3 years ( 

Proposed) operating statements. There may be some changes as per loan needed and 

business nature.The profit and loss account should be presented here. 

Analysis of balance sheet: Details about your balance sheets of past years are required to 

show. It is also required to show proposed balance sheet data to show a picture of your 

future business plan. Details about current assets, fixed assets, current and long-term 

liabilities are presented in this statement. 

Comparative statements of current assets and liabilities: This statement describes the 

viability of your working capital cycle. 

Calculation of MPBF: Calculation of maximum permissible bank finance. This statement 

shows the capacity of the borrower to borrow money. It depends on two methods which 

are dependent on working capital. 

Fund flow statements: This statement shows the fund flow statements for current and 

future years. It shows the fund utilisation and sources of funds.The statement is important 

because it highlights the utilization of fund. To make sure the bank that you are using the 

fund for the purpose you have borrowed. 

Ratio analysis: This is also one of the long and important statements of CMA data.It covers 

key ratios. Some ratios are the current ratio, MPBF, Net worth ratio, quick ratios, turnover 

ratios, debt-equity ratios, DSCR etc. 

NO SAME REPORT FOR ALL BUSINESSES: 

There are different business types and according to their business nature and size, CMA 

report is prepared. It is not similar for all businesses. Similarly, CMA report is prepared as 

per nature of the borrowed funds. The data is different for the working capital loan or for 

CC or for CMA data for the bank guarantee. 

WHAT IS THE BENEFIT OF SUBMITTING CMA REPORT? 

By submitting CMA data report with right ratios and proper presentation of usage of funds, 

your chances of getting the loan has been increased. Provided you follow other procedures 

and requirements of banks. 
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CMA (Credit Monitoring arrangement) data preparation does not mean only filling data but 

it requires deep knowledge of finance. You get prepared CMA data report by CA by using 

our online services. It is easy and fast. 

Accounting Treatment of Specific Items 

Bad Debts 

Bad debts are those items of charge on the profits of the company that indicate the sums of 

money that could not be recovered from a debtor, during the year. In order to record the 

number of bad debts correctly, such sum is charged to the profit and loss account and 

deducted from the value of debtors for that year, so that the amount represents money that 

is actually expected to accrue from the debtors. 

The journal entry passed to record the event is as follows: 

Bad Debt Exp —————Dr 

 

To Receivable Account —————-Cr 

Provision for Doubtful Debts 

The provision for doubtful debts is an estimated amount of bad debts that are likely to arise 

from the accounts receivable that have been given but not yet collected from the debtors. It 

is similar to the allowance for doubtful accounts. 

Such provision is provided for, under accrual basis accounting, so that an expense is usually 

recognized for probable bad debts as soon as invoices are issued to customers, instead of 

waiting several months to find out exactly which invoices turned out to be stale. 

Thus, the net impact of the provision for doubtful debts is to accelerate the recognition of 

bad debts into earlier reporting periods. The journal entry passed in this case will be as 

follows: 

Provision for bad and doubtful debts A/c …. Dr 

To Debtors A/c ………. Cr. 

Provision for income taxes 

A provision for income taxes is the estimated amount that a business or individual taxpayer 

expects to pay in income taxes for the current year. The amount of this provision is derived 

by adjusting the reported net income of a business with a variety of permanent differences 
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and temporary differences. The adjusted net income figure is then multiplied by the 

applicable income tax rate to arrive at the provision for income taxes. 

This provision can be altered to a considerable extent by the amount of tax planning that a 

person or business engages in to defer or eliminate the income tax liability. Consequently, 

the proportional size of this provision can vary significantly from taxpayer to taxpayer, 

based on their tax planning abilities. 

A planned provision for income taxes can also be included in a company's budget model. In 

a well-crafted model, this planned provision would include both permanent and temporary 

differences. In a more basic model, the provision is simply based on the applicable tax rate. 

Preparation of Profit and Loss Account 

Banking companies are required to prepare their Profit and Loss Account according to 

Form B in the Third Schedule. Form B is in a summary form and the details of various items 

are given in the Schedules. 

Form B 
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FORM B :- Profit and loss account for the year ended on 31st March (year) 

Schedule No. ............................... 

Year ended on 31-3-19....... (current year) 

year ended on 

31-3-19....... (previous yea) 

I. Income 

Interest earned 

Other income 

Total 

II. Expenditure 

Interest expended 

Operating expenses 

Provisions and contingencies   

Total 

III. Profit / Loss 

Net profit / loss (-) for the year 

Profit / loss (-) brought forward 

Total 

IV. Appropriations 

Transfer to statutory reserves 
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Transfer to other reserves 

Transfer to government/ Proposed dividend 

Balance carried over to Balance sheet 

Total 

13 

14 

___________ ____________ 

__________ ____________ 

15 

16 

____________ ____________ 

_____________ _________ 

_____________ ___________ 

_____________ __________ 

____________ _____________ 

___________ ____________ 

Schedule 13 : Interest earned 

As on 31-3-19...... As on 31-3-19....... 

(current year) (previous year) 

I. Interest/discount on advance/bills 

II. Income on investments 
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Ill. Interest on balances with Reserve 

Bank of India and other inter-bank funds 

IV. Others 

Total 

 _____________ ____________ 

____________ _____________ 

Schedule 14 : Other income  

As on 31-3-19....... As on 31-3-19..... 

(current year) (previous year) 

I. Commission, exchange and brokerage 

II. Profit on sale of investments 

Less: Loss on sale of investments 

III. Profit on revaluation of investments 

Less: Loss on revaluation of investments 

IV. Profit on sale of land, buildings and other assets 

Less: Loss on sale of land, buildings and other assets 

V. Profit on exchange transactions 

Less : Loss on exchange transactions 

VI. Income earned by way of dividends, etc. from subsidiaries/companies and/or joint 

ventures abroad/ in India 

VII. Miscellaneous income 
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Total 

 _______________ _____________ 

______________ _______________ 

Note: Under items II to V loss figures may be shown in brackets. 

Schedule 15 : Interest expended 

As on 31-3-19....... As on 31-3-19....... 

(current year) (previous year) 

I. Interest on deposits 

II. Interest on Reserve Bank of India/Inter bank borrowings 

III. Others 

Total 

 _______________ ____________ 

_______________ ___________ 

Schedule 16 : Operating expenses 

As on 31-3-19..... As on 31-3-19..... 

(current year) (previous year) 

I. Payment to and provisions of employees 

II. Rent, taxes and lighting 

III. Printing and stationery 

IV. Advertisement and publicity 

V. Depreciation on bank's property 
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VI. Director's fees, allowances and expenses 

VII. Auditors' fees and expenses (including branch auditors) 

VIII. Law charges 

IX. Postages, Telegrams, Telephones, etc. 

X. Repairs and maintenance 

XI. Insurance 

XII. Other expenditure 

Total: 

______________ _____________ 

______________ _____________ 

Understanding the profit & loss statement of banks/ financial 

institutions 

 

In the previous article of this series, we had discussed some of the key ratios relating to 

the cash flow statement. With that, we concluded our discussion on financial statements. 

However, we have till now discussed the financial statement for non-financial companies. 

Non-financial companies include firms involved in manufacturing and providing services. 

However, financial statements of financial firms such as banks are very different. In the 

next few articles, we will talk about the financial statements for such firms. On the back of 

banking regulations, banks' accounts are presented in a different manner. As such, one 

needs to analyze the same in a different manner. 

Before we get into a detailed discussion, we think it would be better to start right at the 

basics. For this, we will see the difference between the financial statements of a financial 

organization and a non-financial organization. 
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Profit and Loss account 

Let's start with the profit and loss account. A non-financial company, say a manufacturing 

company, derives revenues from product sales. The expenses for the company would 

include that of raw materials, labour, power and fuel, salaries and wages, administrative 

costs, amongst others. 

For a bank it is quite different. The basic function of a bank is to accept deposits and give 

out loans. On the loans that it gives out, it charges an interest rate. This interest earned is 

the key revenue source for a bank. This term is known as 'interest income'. 

Apart from interest income from loans advanced, it also earns interest from certain 

investments that it makes. In addition, a bank is also required to keep a certain amount of 

its cash reserves with the RBI. However, it must be noted that a bank's interest income 

from investments depends upon some key factors like monetary policies (Cash reserve 

ratio and statutory liquidity ratio limits) and credit demand. 

Cash reserve ratio (CRR) is a certain percentage of deposits which a bank is mandated to 

maintain with the RBI. Statutory liquidity ratio (SLR) is the second part of regulatory 

requirement, which requires banks to invest in G-Secs. The bank's revenues are basically 

derived from the interest it earns from the loans it gives out as well as from the fixed 

income investments it makes. If credit demand is lower, the bank increases the quantum of 

investments. 

Apart from interest income being the key revenue source for a bank, it also earns income in 

the form of fees that it charges for the various services it provides. These services include 

processing fees for loans and forex transactions, amongst others. It is believed that banks 

derive nearly 50% of revenues from this stream in developed economies. In India, the story 

is very different. This stream of revenues contributes about 15% to the overall revenues. 

Now that we have covered the income part of the profit and loss account, we shall move on 

to the expenditure aspect of the same. The key expense of a bank is interest on deposits 

that are made with it. These could be in the form of term (fixed) or savings bank account 

deposits. The second biggest expense head for a bank would be its operating expenses. This 

head would include all operational costs, which even non-financial companies expend. 
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Some of include employee costs, advertisement and publicity costs, administrative costs, 

rent, lighting and stationary. 

Under expenses, there is also an item called 'provisions and contingencies' that is included. 

In the simplest terms, these are liabilities that are of uncertain timing or amount. This 

includes provisions for unrecoverable assets. In accounting terms, such provisions are 

called as 'Provisions for Non-performing assets (NPAs)'. Apart from NPAs, these provisions 

also include provision for tax and also depreciation in the value of investments. 

After removing these heads from the income generated, we simply arrive at the profits 

figure. The process of appropriation thereafter is similar to that of non-financial companies. 

We shall take up an example to understand this. Displayed below is the profit and loss 

account of HDFC Bank. 
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The total income generated by the bank during FY09 was Rs 198 bn. Of this, interest 

income was Rs 163 bn. The balance was contributed by other income. 

Out of the Rs 163 bn of interest income, HDFC Bank earned about Rs 121 bn from interest 

on loans advanced/ bills. The income from investments during the year stood at Rs 40 bn, 

while interest from the balance with RBI and other inter-bank funds stood at Rs 2 bn. 

During FY09, HDFC Bank earned revenues of Rs 34 bn as other income. The largest 

contributor here was fee income (Commission, exchange and brokerage) to the tune of Rs 
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26 bn. This translates as 13% of the total income during the year. Other major contributors 

were profit on sale of investments and exchange transactions. 

Moving on to the bank's expense account. The total interest expended stood at Rs 89 bn. 

The interest on deposits stood at Rs 80 bn , while interest on borrowings from other 

sources such as the RBI and other bank borrowings stood at Rs 6 bn. Operating expenses 

during the year stood at Rs 56 bn. The major contributor to this head was employee costs 

(Rs 23 bn). Provision and contingencies amount stood at Rs 29 bn. 

In the next article of this series, we shall continue our discussion on the financial 

statements of banks. 

Important Items of Balance Sheet 

Contents of a Balance Sheet and Peculiar Items 

Along with several peculiar items, a balance sheet must contain the following items. 

1. Shareholders’ Fund 

According to Schedule VI, a balance sheet must sub-classify shareholders’ fund as follows: 

A. Share capital 

B. Reserves and surplus 

C. Money receivable against share warrants 

2. Share Capital 

The notes to accounts in a balance sheet must state details pertaining to share capital. They 
must also include the following peculiar items and modifications: 

 Disclosures for each class of shares must state the number of shares outstanding. 

 They must also disclose restrictions on distribution of dividends and payment of 
capital. 
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 Further, to clarify the identities of promoters of the company the notes to accounts 
must show details pertaining to certain classes of shareholders. 

 Details of authorized shares, paid-up capital, par value of shares, the aggregate value 
of shares allotted to each class of shareholders, etc. must be stated separately. 

 Accountants also have to disclose the number of forfeited shares, terms & conditions 
of convertible securities, number of shares bought-back, etc. 

3. Reserve and Surplus 

Every balance sheet has to classify all reserves and surplus funds of a company in the 
following categories: 

i. Capital Reserve 

ii. Capital Redemption Reserve 

iii. Debenture Redemption Reserve 

iv. Securities Premium Reserve 

v. Share Options Outstanding Account 

vi. Revaluation Reserve 

vii. Surplus funds like the balance of profit and loss statement, dividend, bonus shares, 
etc. 

4. Money Received Against Share Warrants 

The balance sheet must disclose all money receivable from share warrants as a separate line 
under Shareholders’ Funds. 

5. Classification of Current and Non-Current Items 

All assets, liabilities and other peculiar items have to be categorized as either current or non-
current. This classification is necessary because it helps in understanding these items 
comprehensively. 

Current items are basically those that have a shorter value of utilization period. Thus, they are 
realizable within 12 months, they are tradeable, they are cash or cash-equivalent, etc. On the 
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contrary, all other assets and liabilities are non-current. Hence, they are realizable beyond the 
period of 12 months. 

6. Liabilities 

Balance sheets show liabilities along with details of share capital and equity. As we read 
above, liabilities can be current or non-current. 

Current liabilities are basically those which are repayable within 12 months. For example, 
trade payables are current liabilities. Concurrently, those that are payable after a year are 
non-current or long-term liabilities. Thus, bank loans are generally non-current debts. 

7. Fixed Assets 

Balance sheets always depict all assets below details of equity and liability. First, fixed assets 
are described, and then current assets. Fixed assets are nothing but non-current assets. Thus, 
their useful life extends beyond 12 months. Fixed assets include both tangible as well as 
intangible assets. Apart from these assets, all other assets are current assets. 

8. Investments 

Even investments of a company are assets. Furthermore, they can also be current or non-
current. Investments realizable within 12 months are current investments, while all others 
are non-current. 

9. Cash and Cash Equivalent 

All cash funds and cash-equivalent items of a company are treated as current assets. Balance 
sheets always have to show them separately. All these rules generally have to be followed 
strictly in balance sheets. Apart from these, accountants also have to show other peculiar 
items like trade payables, trade receivables, inventories, provisions, etc. 

IMPORTANT GUIDELINES ON DISCLOSURE IN FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS * 

 
1. PURPOSE 
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• The financial statements are required to provide the information about the financial 

position and performance of the bank in making economic decisions by  the users. They are 

interested in the bank’s liquidity and solvency and the risks related to the assets and 

liabilities recognized on its balance sheet and to it’s off balance sheet items. This useful 

information can be provided by way of ‘Notes’ to the financial statements, being 

supplementary information for market discipline. Market discipline has been given due 

importance under Basel II framework on capital adequacy by recognizing it as one of its 

three Pillars. 

2. DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENT 

• In this direction, RBI has, over the years, developed a set of disclosure requirements 

which allow the market participants to assess key pieces of information on capital 

adequacy, risk exposures, risk assessment processes and key business parameters which 

provide a consistent and understandable disclosure framework that enhances 

comparability. Banks are also required to comply with the Accounting Standard – 1 (AS -1) 

on disclosure issued by ICAI. This can be achieved through revision of Balance Sheet and P 

& L Account of banks and enlarging the scope of disclosures in “Notes to Accounts”. 

3. ADDITIONAL/SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

“Notes to Accounts” may contain the supplementary information such as:- 

a) Capital (Current & Previous year) with breakup including CRAR – Tier I/II capital (%), % 

of share holding of GOI, amount of subordinated debt raised as Tier I capital, etc. 

b) Investments including details of Repo transactions, Non-SLR investment Portfolio, and 

Sales & transfers to/from HTM category. 

c) Derivatives with breakup of Forward Rate Agreement/Interest Rate Swap, Exchange 

Traded Interest Rate Derivatives, and Disclosures on risk exposure in derivatives. 

d) Asset Quality with details such as Non-Performing Assets, Particulars of  Accounts 

Restructured, Details of financial assets sold to Securitization / Reconstruction Company 

for Assets Reconstruction, Details of Non-Performing financial assets purchased, Details of 

Non-Performing Assets sold, and Provisions on Standard Assets. 

e) Business Ratios giving Interest Income as a % to Working Funds, Non-interest income as 

a % to working funds, Operating Profit as a % to working funds, etc. 

f) Asset Liability Management giving the maturity pattern of certain items of assets and 

liabilities such as deposits, advances, investments, borrowings, foreign current assets, and 

foreign currency liabilities. 
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g) Exposures giving the segment wise breakup on Exposure to Real Estate Sector, Exposure 

to Capital Market, Risk Category wise Country Exposure, Details of Single Borrower Limit 

(SGL)/Group Borrower Limit (GBL) exceeded by the bank, and Unsecured Advances. 

h) Miscellaneous relating to Amount of Provisions made for Income Tax during the year, 

and Disclosure of Penalties imposed by RBI. 

4. Disclosure Requirements as per Accounting Standards where RBI has issued 

guidelines in respect of disclosure items for “Notes to Accounts” 

a) AS-5 – relating to Net Profit or Loss for the period, prior period items and changes in 

accounting policies. 

b) AS -9 – Revenue Recognition giving the reasons for postponement of revenue 

recognition. 

c) AS – 15 – Employee Benefits 

d) AS – 17 – Segment Reporting such as Treasury, Corporate/wholesale Banking, Retails 

Banking, ‘Other Banking Operations’ and Domestic and International segments, etc. 

e) AS – 18 – Related Party Disclosures 

f) AS – 21 – Consolidated Financial Statements (CFS) 

g) AS – 22 – Accounting for Tax & Income – Adoption of AS – 22 entails creation of 

Deferred Tax Assets (DTA) and Deferred Tax Liabilities (DTL) which have a bearing on the 

computation of capital adequacy ratio and banks’ ability to declare dividends. DTA 

represents unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward losses which can set-off against 

Assets future taxable income which is considered as timing difference. DTA has an effect of 

decreasing future income tax payments which indicates that they are prepaid income taxes 

and meet the definition of assets. It is created by credit to opening balance of Revenue 

Reserves on the first day of application of AS – 22 or P & L Account for the current year. 

DTA should be deducted from Tier I capital. Deferred Tax Liability (DTL) is created by debit 

to opening balance of Revenue Reserves on the first day of application of AS-22 or P & L 

Account for the current year and will not be eligible for inclusion in Tier I and Tier II capital 

for capital adequacy purpose. DTL have an effect of increasing the future year’s income tax 

payments which indicates that they are accrued taxes and meet the definition of liabilities. 

h) AS – 23 – Accounting for investments in Associates in Consolidated Financial 

Statements. It relates to the effects of the investments in associates on the financial position 

and operating results of a group 
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i) AS – 24 – Discontinuing Operations – resulted in shedding of liability and realization of 

the assets by the bank, etc. 

j) AS – 25 – Interim Financial Reporting – Half yearly reporting. 

k) Other Accounting Standards Banks are required to comply with the disclosure norms 

stipulated under the various Accounting Standards issued by ICAI. 

5. Additional Disclosures 

a) Provisions and contingencies – Banks are required to disclose in the “Notes to 

Accounts” the information on all Provisions and Contingencies giving Provision for 

depreciation on Investment, Provision towards NPA, Provision towards Standard Assets, 

Provision made towards Income Tax, and Other Provision and contingencies. 

b) Floating Provisions - comprehensive disclosures on floating provisions. 

c) Draw Down from Reserves - Details of draw down of reserves are to be disclosed. 

d) Complaints - Brief details on Customer Complaints and Awards passed by the Banking 

Ombudsman. 

e) Letters of Comfort (LOC) issued by banks - Details of all the Letters of Comfort (LoCs) 

issued during the year, including their assessed financial impact, etc. 

f) Provision Coverage Ratio (PCR) - ratio of provisioning to gross non-performing assets 

g) Bancassurance Business - Details of fees/remuneration received, etc. 

6. Concentration of Deposits, Advances, Exposures, and NPAs 

a) Concentration of deposits – Total deposits of 20 large depositors and percentage of the 

deposits to total deposits of the bank. 

b) Concentration of Advances - Total advances to 20 largest borrowers and  percentage 

of the advance to total advances of the bank. 

c) Concentration of Exposures - Total Exposure to 20 largest borrowers/customers and 

percentage of the exposures to total exposure of the bank on borrowers/customers. 

d) Concentration of NPAs - Total exposure to top 4 NPA accounts 

7. Sector-wise NPAs - Details of sector-wise NPAs such as Agriculture & Allied 

Activities, Industry (Micro & Small, Medium and Large), Services, and Personal Loans. 

8. Movement of NPAs - Additions, Recoveries, Upgradation, Write-offs, etc. from Gross 

NPAs and the final position as on the date of the Financial Statement. 
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9. Overseas Assets, NPAs, and Revenue -Giving the Total assets, Total NPAs, and Total 

Revenue. 

10. Off-balance sheet SPVs sponsored - (consolidated) giving Domestic and Overseas 

SPVs sponsored. The prescribed formats in respect of certain disclosures are given in RBI 

Circular. 

 

Company Accounts I & II 

(Unit-5) 

Definition and Types of Companies 

According to Section 3 (1) (i) of Indian Companies Act, 1956. “Company means a company 

formed and registered under this act or an existing company. ‘Existing Company’ means a 

company formed and registered under any of the previous Company Laws.” 

A company is that form of business organization, which is created by law. It refers to an 

association of persons, created to undertake business activities, having a separate legal 

existence, perpetual succession and a common seal. 

It is a legal entity incorporated under the Companies Act, 2013 or any other previous acts, 

prevalent in the country. 

 

Types of Company 
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On the basis of members 

One person Company: OPC or one person company is a new category of company 
introduced to encourage startups and young entrepreneurs wherein a single person 
can incorporate the entity. It also promotes the concept of corporatization of the 
business. It should be noted that it is not the same as a sole proprietorship firm, in a way 
that OPC has separate legal existence with limited liability. 

Private Company: A private company is one in which two or more persons get the 
company registered under the Companies Act. The securities of such a company are not 
listed on a recognised stock exchange, and they cannot invite the public to subscribe for the 
shares/debentures. The members of a private company are restricted from transferring the 
shares. The maximum number of members in a private company is 200. 

Public Company: A company which is formed by a minimum number of seven 
members with a lawful object is termed as a public company. Its securities are listed on a 
recognized stock exchange, and its shares are freely transferable. Further, there is no 
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limit on the maximum number of members in such a company. The subsidiary of the public 
company is also considered as a public company. 

On the basis of liability 

Company limited by shares: Company limited by shares is one in which memorandum of 
association of the company specifies that the liabilities of the shareholders are limited to 
the amount unpaid on shares which they own. Hence, the shareholders are liable only to 
the extent of the amount that is not paid on their holdings. 

Company limited by guarantee: A company in which the liability of members is limited to 
a definite sum stated in the memorandum of association of the company. Meaning that the 
liability of the members is confined by the MoA to a stipulated sum, as they have 
guaranteed to contribute to the company’s assets, in the event of winding up of the 
company. 

Unlimited Company: An unlimited company is a company whose liability does not have 
any limit. In this type of company, the liability of the member ends when he/she ceases to 
be a member of that company. 

Special companies 

Government Company: The company whose at least 51% paid up share capital is owned 
by Central Government/State Government, or partly by central and partly by the state 
government. Further, it also covers a company whose holding company is a government 
company. 

Foreign Company: Any company registered outside the country that has a business 
place in India or by way of an agent traditionally or electronically and undertakes business 
operations in the country in any manner. 

Section 8 Company: A company formed for a charitable object, i.e. to encourage 
commerce, science, sports, art, research, education, social welfare, environment protection 
religion, etc. comes under the category of Section 8 company. These companies are 
given special license by the Central Government. Further, they use the money earned as 
profit for the promotion of the object and thus, dividend to members is not paid. 

Public Financial Institution: The companies, which are engaged in financial and 
investment business and whose 51% or more paid up share capital is held by Central 
Government and are established under any act are termed as public financial institutions. It 
includes LIC, ICICI, IDFC, IDBI, UTI etc. 
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On the basis of the control 

Holding Company: A parent company that owns and controls the management and 
composition of the Board of Directors of another company (i.e. subsidiary company) is 
termed as a holding company. 

Subsidiary Company: A company whose more than 51% of its total share capital is 
owned by another company, i.e. a holding company either itself or together with its 
subsidiaries, as well as the holding company also governs the composition of Board of 
Directors is called the subsidiary company. 

Associate Company: A company in which another company possess a considerable 
influence over the company, then the latter is called as an associate company. The term 
considerable influence implies controls a minimum 20% of total share capital, or business 
decisions, as per an agreement. 

Private Company vs Public Company 

Point Private Company Public Company 

Paid-up Capital Minimum paid-up capital of Rs 
1.00.000/- 

Minimum paid-up capital of Rs 
500.000/- 

No. of Members Minimum 2 members and maximum 
200 

Minimum 7 members, no max limit 

Name of 
Company 

Name must end in “private limited” Name must end in “public limited” 

No. of Directors Minimum two directors, and no 
need for independent directors 

Minimum 3 directors, and if listed 
company one-third must be 
independent 

Managerial 
Remuneration 

There are no restrictions Restricted to 11% of the Net profit 
of the company 
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Quorum of 
Meetings 

Minimum two members, present in 
person 

Quorum will depend on the total 
number of members of the 
company 

Public offer Private companies cannot have 
public offers for shares 

Public offers must be in the demat 
form only 

Accepting 
Deposits 

Not allowed according to the act If paid capital exceeds 100 crores, 
or turnover exceeds 500 crores, the 
company can accept public deposits 

 

 

Difference between Partnership and Company 

 

Partnership and Company are the most familiar terms for the people who are pursuing 
business education or commerce education. Besides being very familiar, many of us can’t 
able to correctly differentiate these two forms of business. This article presents you the top 
differences between Partnership Firms and Companies. 
 
PARTNERSHIP 

Indian Partnership Act, 1932 defines Partnership as ” Partnership is a relationship between 
two or more persons who have agreed to share the profits of a business carried on by all 
partners or any one partner acting for all”. The members of the Partnership firm are called 
as Partners. There are different types of partners such as Active partner, Sleeping partner, 
Nominal partner, Minor partner, Etc. 

Partnership Frim is created by agreement between two or more people by registering the 
partnership firm with Registrar of Firms according to Indian Partnership Act, 1936. 

Registration of a partnership firm is very simple process and Application for registration of 
firm must contain the following details 

i)Name of the firm 

ii) Names of the partners and their address 
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iii) location where the business is carried on. 

iv) Partnership tenure between the partners 

v) The main office of the firm, etc. 

COMPANY 

Indian Companies Act, 2013 defines Company as ” A Company formed and registered under 
this Companies Act or under any previous company law”. A company is defined easily as an 
association of two or more persons which is formed for doing business collectively and 
registered with Registrar of Companies according to Indian Companies Act, 2013.There are 
different types of companies like One Person Company, Private company and Public 
Company, etc. 
To get registered with Registrar of Companies, the promoters are required to submit the 
copies of Articles of Association and Memorandum of Association which consists of 
various information relating to internal management and external management of the 
company. 
The company exhibits certain special characteristics, such as 

i) It have a Separate Legal Entity 

ii) It contains Common Seal under its name 

iii) It has limited liability 

iv) It acts as an artificial person, Etc.  

https://www.facebook.com/BankPoClerk/?ref=aymt_homepage_panel
https://www.facebook.com/groups/2148759855448538/?source_id=117234085093214
https://t.me/joinchat/J8jQkg8azrnOjC1LiWFvJg
file:///F:/Ambitious%20Baba/One%20liner/January%202019/t.me/ambitiousbaba
http://topdifferences.com/difference-between-private-company-and-public-company/
http://topdifferences.com/difference-between-private-company-and-public-company/
http://topdifferences.com/difference-between-memorandum-of-association-and-articles-of-association/


 

Facebook Page                     Facebook Group                    Telegram Group                    Telegram Channel 

  

AMBITIOUSBABA.COM | MAIL US AT 

CONTACT@AMBITIOUSBABA.COM 
85 

 

 

 

 
 

Classes of Share Capital 

Share Capital 
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The term capital usually means a particular amount of money with which a business is 

started. In Indian Companies Act, it has been used in different senses in various parts of the 

Act, but in general it means the money subscribed pursuant to Memorandum of Association 

of the Company. Capital, in fact, represents the assets with which the undertaking is carried 

on. 

 

The sum total of nominal value of shares of a company is known as its share capital. In case 

of companies, the terms ‘capital’ and ‘share capital’ have been held to be synonymous. 

Capital to be stated in the Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association of the 

Company. 

Types Share Capital: 

1. Registered, Authorised or Nominal Capital: The Memorandum of Association of every 

company has to specify the amount of capital with which it wants to be registered. The 

capital so stated is called Registered, Authorized or Nominal Capital. The Registered Capital 

is the maximum amount of share capital which a company can raise by way of public 

subscription. 

2. Issued Capital: The company may not issue the entire authorised capital at once. It goes 

on raising the capital as and when the need for additional fund is felt. So, issued capital is 

that part of Authorised/Registered or Nominal Capital which is offered to the public for 

subscription in the form of shares. 

3. Unissued Capital: The balance of nominal capital remaining to be issued is called 

Unissued Capital. 

4. Subscribed Capital: It is that part of “issued capital” for which applications are received 

from the public. The subscribed capital is allotted to the respective subscribers as per 

resolution passed by the directors of the company. 

5. Called up Capital: It is that part of subscribed capital which has been called up by the 

company. A company does not call at once the full amount on each of the shares it has 

allotted and therefore, calls up only such amount as it needs. 

6. Uncalled up Capital: It is the uncalled portion of the allotted capital and represents 

contingent liability of the shareholders on the shares. 

7. Paid up Capital: It is that part of called up capital against which payment has been 

received from the members on their respective shares in response to the calls made by the 

company. 
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8. Reserve Capital or Reserve Liability: By Reserve Capital we mean that amount which 

is not callable by the company except in the event of the company being wound up. The 

company cannot demand the payment of money on the shares to that extent during its life 

time. Reserve capital may be created by means of a special resolution passed by the 

company in its General Meeting by three-fourths majority of those voting on it. 

When once the Reserve Capital has been so created the company cannot alter its Articles of 

Association so as to make the reserve liability available at any time. The Reserve Capital 

cannot be charged as security for loans by the directors. It cannot be turned into ordinary 

capital without the order of the court. It cannot be cancelled at the time of reduction of 

capital. 

9. Fixed Capital: The fixed capital of a company is what the company retains in the shape 

of fixed assets such as land and buildings, plant and machinery, furniture, etc. 

10. Circulating Capital: The circulating capital is a part of subscribed capital which is 

circulated in business in the form of using goods or other assets such as book debts, bill 

receivables, cash, bank balance, etc. 

Issue of Shares 

Issue of Shares is the process in which companies allot new shares to shareholders. 

Shareholders can be either individuals or corporates. The company follows the rules 

prescribed by Companies Act 2013 while issuing the shares. Issue of Prospectus, Receiving 

Applications, Allotment of Shares are three basic steps of the procedure of issuing the 

shares. The process of creating new shares is known as Allocation or allotment. Let us see 

the two types of shares of a company and the procedure for issue of shares that a company 

must follow. 
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Preference Shares 

A preference share is one which carries two exclusive preferential rights over the other type 
of shares, i.e. equity shares. These two special conditions of preference shares are 

A preferential right with respect to the dividends declared by a company. Such dividends 
can be at a fixed rate on the nominal value of the shares held by them. So the dividend is first 
paid to preference shareholders before equity shareholders. 

Preferential right when it comes to repayment of capital in case of liquidation of the 
company. This means that the preference shareholders get paid out earlier than the equity 
shareholders. 

Other than these two rights, preference shares are similar to equity shares. The holders of 
preference shares can vote in any matters directly affecting their rights or obligations. 

Preference shares can actually be of various types as well. They can be redeemable or 
irredeemable. They can be participating (participate in further profits after a dividend is paid 
out) or non-participating. And they may be cumulative (arrears in demand will cumulate) or 
non-cumulative. 
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Equity Shares 

Equity share is a share that is simply not a preference share. So shares that do not enjoy any 
preferential rights are thus equity shares. They only enjoy equity, i.e. ownership in the 
company. 

The dividend given to equity shareholders is not fixed. It is decided by the Board of Directors 
according to the financial performance of the company. And if in a given year no dividend can 
be declared, the shareholders lose the dividend for that year, it does not cumulate. 

Equity shareholders also have proportional voting rights according to the paid-up capital of 
the company. Essentially it is one share one vote system. A company cannot issue non-voting 
equity shares, they are illegal. All equity shares must come with full voting rights. 

Issue of Shares 

When a company wishes to issue shares to the public, there is a procedure and rules that it 

must follow as prescribed by the Companies Act 2013. The money to be paid by subscribers 

can even be collected by the company in installments if it wishes. Let us take a look at the 

steps and the procedure of issue of new shares. 

Procedure of Issue of New Shares 

1] Issue of Prospectus 

Before the issue of shares, comes the issue of the prospectus. The prospectus is like an 

invitation to the public to subscribe to shares of the company. A prospectus contains all the 

information of the company, its financial structure, previous year balance sheets and profit 

and Loss statements etc. 

It also states the manner in which the capital collected will be spent. When inviting 

deposits from the public at large it is compulsory for a company to issue a prospectus or a 

document in lieu of a prospectus. 

2] Receiving Applications 

When the prospectus is issued, prospective investors can now apply for shares. They must 

fill out an application and deposit the requisite application money in the schedule bank 

mentioned in the prospectus. The application process can stay open a maximum of 120 

days. If in these 120 days minimum subscription has not been reached, then this issue of 
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shares will be cancelled. The application money must be refunded to the investors within 

130 days since issuing of the prospectus. 

3] Allotment of Shares 

Once the minimum subscription has been reached, the shares can be allotted. Generally, 

there is always oversubscription of shares, so the allotment is done on pro-rata bases. 

Letters of Allotment are sent to those who have been allotted their shares. This results in a 

valid contract between the company and the applicant, who will now be a part owner of the 

company. 

If any applications were rejected, letters of regret are sent to the applicants. After the 

allotment, the company can collect the share capital as it wishes, in one go or in 

instalments. 

Non-voting Shares 

Provisions of section 43 and 47 deals with the kinds of shares which may be issued by a 
Company and the voting rights attached to such shares. In this article we will analyze the 
present law with reference to the issue of shares without voting rights. 

Kinds of Share Capital: 

The share capital of a company limited by shares shall be of two kinds, namely:— 

(a) Equity share capital: 

 with voting rights; or 
 with differential rights as to dividend, voting or otherwise; and 

(b) Preference share capital 

As per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 these limitations on kinds of share capital 
applied to all Companies including private Companies also. Therefore even private 
Companies could not structure their share capital in the form and fashion that they deem fit 
unless in conformity with the requirement of the said Act. 

However, as per the recent amendment in Companies Act, 2013, now private Companies 
have been exempted from the requirement of provisions of section 43 and 47 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 subject to the provisions contained in the memorandum and articles 
of the Company i.e. in a nut shell Private Companies have now been given the freedom to 
structure their share capital in accordance with their requirement. 

Voting Rights: 

Section 47 of the Companies Act deals with the provisions pertaining to the voting rights of 
the members which states that: 
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 Every member of a company limited by shares and holding equity share capital 
therein, shall have a right to vote on every resolution placed before the company; and 

 His voting right on a poll shall be in proportion to his share in the paid-up equity 
share capital of the company. 
Further, preference shareholders are also given voting rights on the matters directly 
affecting their rights and, any resolution for the winding up of the company or for the 
repayment or reduction of its equity or preference share capital. Where the dividend in 
respect of a class of preference shares has not been paid for a period of two years or more, 
such class of preference shareholders shall have a right to vote on all the resolutions placed 
before the company. 

It is pertinent to note here that as per the Companies Amendment Act, 2015, the Private 
Companies now have been given exemption, subject to the provisions contained in the 
memorandum and articles of the Company from the above requirement also. 

Shares with Differential Rights: 

 The equity shares issued “with differential rights as to dividend, voting or 
otherwise” would mean having rights different than the rights attached with the equity 
shares with voting rights. Such rights may be different in nature as regards dividend, as 
regards voting, or as regards “otherwise”. 

 As per the Companies Act, 2013, when a Company issues equity shares with 
differential rights, they are required to adhere certain conditions. 

 The Companies (Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014 lays down several 
conditions for a company to issue equity shares with differential voting rights. The Share 
with differential rights at any point of time shall not exceed 26% of the total post issue paid 
up equity share capital, including equity shares with differential rights issued. 
 
Can a Company Issue Non Voting Share: 

 It is a debatable question that a Company can issue non-voting share, it may be argued that 
section 47 offers every member a right to vote and therefore, a company cannot issue non-
voting shares. 

 As per the provisions of section 43 of the Companies Act, 2013 a Company may issue 
equity shares with voting rights or with differential rights as to dividend, voting or 
otherwise, further, section 47 offers every member a right to vote. If we read the provisions 
of both of the above stated provision then it may be said a Company may issue shares with 
differential right as to dividend or voting but it cannot issue shares without voting right at 
all. 
However, as per the Companies Amendment Act, 2015 now the Private Companies subject 

to the provisions of memorandum and articles of the Company have been given exemption 

from both of the above provision, hence making the situation of Private Companies at par 
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with the situation as was in erstwhile Companies Act, 1956, which allows Private 

Companies to issue nonvoting right shares. 

Form of Balance Sheet 

Balance sheet (also known as the statement of financial position) is a financial statement 

that shows the assets, liabilities and owner’s equity of a business at a particular date. The 

main purpose of preparing a balance sheet is to disclose the financial position of a business 

enterprise at a given date. While the balance sheet can be prepared at any time, it is mostly 

prepared at the end of the accounting period. 

 

Most of the information about assets, liabilities and owners equity items are obtained from 

the adjusted trial balance of the company. However, retained earnings, a part of owners’ 

equity section, is provided by the statement of retained earnings. 

Sections of the balance sheet 

We can broadly divide a balance sheet into three sections – assets section, liabilities section 

and owners equity section. Each of these sections is briefly discussed below: 

Assets section 

In this section all the resources (i.e., assets) of the business are listed. In balance sheet, 

assets having similar characteristics are grouped together. The mostly adopted approach is 

to divide assets into current assets and non-current assets. Current assets include cash and 

all assets that can be converted into cash or are expected to be consumed within a short 

period of time – usually one year. Examples of current assets include cash, cash 

equivalents, accounts receivables, prepaid expenses or advance payments, short-term 

investments and inventories. 

All assets that are not listed as current assets, are grouped as non-current assets. A 

common characteristic of such assets is that they continue providing benefit for a long 

period of time – usually more than one year. Examples of such assets include long-term 

investments, equipment, plant and machinery, land and buildings, and intangible assets. 

 

When balance sheet is prepared, the current assets are listed first and non-current assets 

are listed later. 

Liabilities section 
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Liabilities are obligations to parties other than owners of the business. They are grouped as 

current liabilities and long-term liabilities in the balance sheet. Current liabilities are the 

obligations that are expected to be met within a period of one year by using current assets 

of the business or by the provision of goods or services. All liabilities that are not current 

liabilities are considered long term liabilities. 

Owner’s equity section 

Owner’s equity is the obligation of the business to its owners. The term owners’ equity is 

mostly used in the balance sheet of sole proprietorship and partnership form of business. 

In a company’s balance sheet the term “owner’s equity” is often replaced by the term 

“stockholders equity”. 

When balance sheet is prepared, the liabilities section is presented first and owners’ equity 

section is presented later. 

Format of the balance sheet 

There are two formats of presenting assets, liabilities and owners’ equity in the balance 

sheet – account format and report format. In account format, the balance sheet is divided 

into left and right sides like a T account. The assets are listed on the left hand side whereas 

both liabilities and owners’ equity are listed on the right hand side of the balance sheet. If 

all the elements of the balance sheet are correctly listed, the total of asset side (i.e., left 

side) must be equal to the total of liabilities and owners’ equity side (i.e., right side). 

In report format, the balance sheet elements are presented vertically i.e., assets section is 

presented at the top and liabilities and owners equity sections are presented below the 

assets section. 

The example given below shows both the formats. 

Example 

Using the information from adjusted trial balance given on this page and statement of 
retained earnings given on this page, we can prepare the balance sheet of Business 
Consulting Company as follows: 

Account format: 
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Report format: 
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Usefulness of balance sheet 

As described at the start of this article, balance sheet is prepared to disclose the financial 

position of the company at a particular point in time. This information is of great 

importance for all concerned parties. For example, investors and creditors use it to 

evaluate the capital structure, liquidity and solvency position of the business. On the basis 

of such evaluation, they anticipate the future performance of the company in terms of 

profitability and cash flows and make much important economic decisions. 

Limitations of balance sheet 

Many items have great financial value and may be important for the users of financial 

statements in making reliable decisions but are not reported in the balance sheet because 

they cannot be objectively measured. Examples of such items include the skill and 

knowledge of an IT company, a sound customer base and high reputation etc. 

The current fair value of various assets and liabilities may be important for some decision 

makers but the balance sheet does not disclose it because assets and liabilities are mostly 

reported at their historical costs. 

The value of some items is reported in the balance sheet on the basis of judgments and 

estimates. For example the depreciation is usually calculated on the basis of estimated life 

of the assets. The book value reported in the balance sheet is therefore also an estimated 

value. Another example is the accounts receivable that are reported at their estimated net 

realizable value. 

Product Liability law in India 

LIABILITY FOR MANUFACTURING OR DISTRIBUTING A DEFECTIVE PRODUCT IN INDIA 
In India, Product liability law, also called “products liability”, governs the liability of 
manufacturers, wholesalers, distributors, and vendors for injury to a person or property 
caused by dangerous or defective products. The goal of product liability laws is to help 
protect consumers from dangerous or defective products, while holding manufacturers, 
distributors, and retailers responsible for putting into the market place products that they 
knew or should have known were dangerous or defective. 

Civil Product liability in India is, essentially, governed by 
a) The Consumer Protection Act, 1986 

b) The Sales of Goods Act, 1930 

c) The Monopolies and Restrictive Trade Practices Act, 1969 (hereinafter referred to as the 
“MRTP Act”) 
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d) The law of Torts. 

e) special statues pertaining to specific goods 

The laws relating to product liability, in India, have been constantly evolving, by way of 
judicial interpretations and amendments, to become one of the most important socio-
economic legislations for the protection of consumers. The legislation, in respect of product 
liability in India, though was enacted to protect the interest of consumers but the same 
was, earlier, construed narrowly, thereby frustrating the object sought to be achieved. The 
trend, however, has changed in the recent times with the Courts adopting a pro-consumer 
approach. The Courts, in India, have now started awarding compensation and damages 
which are more punitive than compensatory in nature. 

In Wheels World vs. Pradeep Kumar Khurana MANU/CF/0280/2002 the complainant, a 
doctor by profession, complained to the respondent about deficiency in service in not 
repairing, free of charge, a technical fault, which occurred during warranty period, in his 
new Montana car and then not delivering the same for a period of 4 years. A sum of Rs. 30, 
000/- with interest @ 18% per annum from 2/7/1988 to 7/5/1992, was awarded as 
compensation, in favour of the complainant for his suffering, both professionally and 
otherwise, on account of non availability of car for a period of 4 years. Further interest, at 
the same rate for the same period, was also awarded on an amount of Rs. 82, 000/-, being 
the price of the car as well as an amount of Rs. 55, 00/- towards costs and, last but not the 
least, an amount of Rs. 50, 000/-, which was deposited by the Respondent on account of 
stay of imprisonment, was also awarded to the petitioner. 

The product liability law, in India, apart from the civil liability, also imposes criminal 
liability in case of non-compliance with the provisions of each of the below mentioned Acts. 
The said Acts are in addition to and not in derogation of any other laws in force, which 
implies that an action imposing penal liability can be simultaneously initiated along with a 
claim under civil law. Some of these are special Acts pertaining to sale of specific goods 
such as food, drugs, cosmetics etc.. The provisions of these enactments are preventive in 
form , though the relief envisaged is an action for breach in civil or criminal court. 

· The Foods Adulteration Act, 1954 

· The Food Safety and Standards Act, 2006 

· The Drug & Cosmetics Act, 1940 

· The Indian Penal Code, 1860 

· The Standards of Weights and Measures Act, 1956 

· The Agricultural Produce (Grading and Marking) Act, 1937 for marking and grading of 
commodities like vegetables, butter, etc. 
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· The Indian Standards Institution (Certification Marks) Act , 1952 to formulate a number of 
standards for different products by ISI 

· The Bureau of Indian Standards Act , 1986 

Each of the aforesaid Acts provides for imposition of fine and/or imprisonment in case of 
supply of defective products or adulterated consumables. 

The Food Safety and Standards Act, 2006 is the most recent legislation which 
comprehensively deals with food and safety standards which are to be complied with by 
manufacturers and producers, non-compliance of which imposes a liability, upon 
defaulters, of fine, extending upto Rs. Ten Lakhs and/or imprisonment. 

The provisions of Indian Penal Code (IPC), on the other hand, in respect of product liability, 
are attracted when the element of cheating and fraud can be attributed to such defects. For 
example, in the case of Smt. Uma Deepak v. Maruti Udyog Ltd Ors (2003) CPJ 90(MRTP) the 
Complainant alleged that the car sold by the opposite party was not only accidental but the 
price, for the same, was also overcharged. The Court, in response to the allegations made by 
the complainant, directed arrest of the Directors as well as the manager of the 
dealers/agents who sold the said defective car to the complainant and remanded them to 
judicial custody. Subsequent thereto, the said officers of the opposite party were released 
on bail and were directed to replace the disputed car with a new car. 

Provisions of IPC are also attracted to provide punishment to offenders for false weights 
and measures , adulteration of goods ( food, drugs etc -6 months imprisonment, fine of 
1000 rupees or both), and false property marks ( one year imprisonment, fine or both). The 
period of limitation as per Section 468 of the Criminal Procedure Code is 6 months if 
offence is punishable with fine only , and one year if offence is punishable with upto one 
year imprisonment and three years if offence is punishable with imprisonment of above 
one year and upto three years. 

The provisions of the Standards of Weights and Measures Act, 1976 are attracted in case of 
any false packaging, weight or measure which does not conform to the standards 
established by or under the said Act and breaches the mandatory declaratory requirements 
on a package. If any mandatory declaration is found missing on the package a fine of upto 
2000 rupees shall be levied as per Rule 39 of the Standards of weights and measures 
packaged commodity rules. 

The Drugs and Cosmetic Act, 1940 also provides for criminal liability for manufacturers 
and producers of medicinal products or cosmetics etc, which do not adhere to the 
prescribed standards. 

 

Requirements as to Profit and Loss Account 
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1.The provisions of this Part shall apply to the income and expenditure account referred to 
in sub-section (2) of section 210 of the Act, in like manner as they apply to a profit and loss 
account, but subject to the modification of references as specified in that sub-section. 

2.The profit and loss account - 

(a) shall be so made out as clearly to disclose the result of the working of the 
company during the period covered by the account ; and 

(b) shall disclose every material feature, including credits or receipts and debits or 
expenses in respect of non-recurring transactions or transactions of an exceptional 
nature. 

3.The profit and loss account shall set out the various items relating to the income and 
expenditure of the company arranged under the most convenient heads ; and in particular, 
shall disclose the following information in respect of the period covered by the account :- 

(i) (a) The turnover, that is, the aggregate amount for which sales are effected by the 
company, giving the amount of sales in respect of each class of goods dealt with by 
the company, and indicating the quantities of such sales for each class separately. 

(b) Commission paid to sole selling agents within the meaning of section 294 
of the Act. 

(c) Commission paid to other selling agents 

(d) Brokerage and discount on sales, other than the usual trade discount. 

(ii) (a) In the case of manufacturing companies, - 

(1) The value of the raw materials consumed, giving item-wise break-up and 
indicating the quantities thereof. In this break-up, as far as possible, all 
important basic raw materials shall be shown as separate items. The 
intermediates or components procured from other manufacturers may, if 
their list is too large to be included in the break-up, be grouped under 
suitable headings without mentioning the quantities, provided all those items 
which in value individually account for 10 per-cent or more of the total value 
of the raw material consumed shall be shown as separate and distinct items 
with quantities thereof in the break-up. 

(2) The opening and closing stocks of goods produced, giving break-up in 
respect of each class of goods and indicating the quantities thereof. 
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(b) In the case of trading companies, the purchases made and the opening and 
closing stocks, giving break-up in respect of each class of goods traded in by the 
company and indicating the quantities thereof. 

(c) In the case of companies rendering or supplying services, the gross income 
derived from services rendered or supplied. 

(d) In the case of a company, which falls under more than one of the categories 
mentioned in (a), (b) and (c) above, it shall be sufficient compliance with the 
requirements herein if the total amounts are shown in respect of the opening and 
closing stocks, purchases, sales and consumption of raw material with value and 
quantitative break-up and the gross income from services rendered is shown  

(e) In the case of other companies, the gross income derived under different heads 

Note 1 - The quantities of raw materials purchases, stocks, and the turnover shall be 
expressed in quantitative denominations in which these are normally purchased or sold in 
the market. 

Note 2 - For the purpose of items (ii)(a), (ii)(b) and (ii)(d), the items for which the company 
is holding separate industrial licenses, shall be treated as separate classes of goods, but 
where a company has more than one industrial license for production of the same item at 
different places or for expansion of the licensed capacity, the item covered by all such 
licenses shall be treated as one class. In the case of trading companies, the imported items 
shall be classified in accordance with the classification adopted by the Chief Controller of 
Imports and Exports in granting the import licenses. 

Note 3 - In giving the break-up of purchases, stocks and turnover, items like spare parts 
and accessories, the list of which is too large to be included in the break-up, may be 
grouped under suitable headings without quantities, provided all those items, which in 
value individually account for 10 per-cent or more of the total value of the purchases, 
stocks, or turnover, as the case may be, are shown as separate and distinct items with 
quantities thereof in the break-up. 

(iii) In the case of all concerns having works-in-progress, the amounts for which such 
works have been completed at the commencement and at the end of the accounting period. 

(iv) The amount provided for depreciation, renewals or diminution in value of fixed assets.  

If such provision is not made by means of a depreciation charge, the method dopted for 
making such provision. 
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If no provision is made for depreciation, the fact that no provision has been made shall be 
stated and the quantum of arrears of depreciation computed in accordance with section 
205(2) of the Act shall be disclosed by way of a note. 

(v) The amount of interest on the company's debentures and other fixed loans, that is to 
say, loans for fixed periods, stating separately the amount of interest, if any, paid or payable 
to the managing director and the manager, if any. 

(vi)The amount of charge for Indian income-tax and other Indian taxation on profits, 
including, where practicable, with Indian income-tax any taxation imposed elsewhere to 
the extent of the relief, if any, from Indian income-tax and distinguishing, where 
practicable, between income-tax and other taxation. 

(vii) The amounts reserved for - 

(a) repayment of share capital ; and 

          (b) repayment of loans 

(viii)(a)The aggregate, if material, of any amounts set aside or proposed to be set aside, to 
reserves, but not including provisions made to meet any specific liability, contingency or 
commitment known to exist at the date as at which the balance-sheet is made up. 

(b)The aggregate, if material, of any amounts withdrawn from such reserves. 

(ix)(a) The aggregate, if material, of the amounts to set aside to provisions made for 
meeting specific liabilities, contingencies or commitments. 

(b)The aggregate, if material, of the amounts withdrawn from such provisions, as no 
longer required. 

(x) Expenditure incurred on each of the following items, separately for each item :- 

          (a)      Consumption of stores and spare parts. 

          (b)      Power and fuel. 

          (c)      Rent. 

          (d)      Repairs to buildings. 

          (e)      Repairs to machinery. 
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          (f)      (1) Salaries, wages and bonus. 

                   (2) Contribution to provident and other funds. 

(3)Workmen and staff welfare expenses to the extent not adjusted from any 
previous provision or reserve.              

Note 1 - Information in respect of this item should also be given in the balance-sheet 
under the relevant provision or reserve account. 

Note 2. (Omitted by GSR 723(E) dt. 18.09.90 

          (g)      Insurance. 

(h)      Rates and taxes, excluding taxes on income. 

          (i)       Miscellaneous expenses : 

Provided that any item under which the expenses exceed one per cent of the total revenue 
of the company or Rs. 5,000 whichever is higher shall be shown as a separate and distinct 
item against an appropriate account head in the Profit and Loss Account and shall not be 
combined with any other item to be shown Under 'Miscellaneous expenses'. 

(xi) (a)The amount of income from investments, distinguishing between trade investments 
and other investments. 

(b)Other income by way of interest, specifying the nature of the income. 

(c) The amount of income-tax deducted if the gross income is stated under sub-
paragraphs (a) and (b) above.  

(xii)(a)Profits or losses on investments showing distinctly the extent of the profits and 
losses earned or incurred on account of membership of a partnership firm to the extent not 
adjusted from any previous provision or reserve.    

Note -  Information in respect of this item should also be given in the balance-sheet under 
the relevant provision or reserve account. 

(b)Profits or losses in respect of transactions of a kind, not usually undertaken by 
the company or undertaken in circumstances of an exceptional or non-recurring 
nature, if material in amount. 
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(c)Miscellaneous income. 

(xiii)(a)Dividends from subsidiary companies. 

(b)Provisions for losses of subsidiary companies. 

(xiv)The aggregate amount of the dividends paid, and proposed, and stating whether such 
amounts are subject to deduction of income-tax or not. 

(xv)Amount, if material, by which any items shown in the profit and loss account are 
affected by any change in the basis of accounting. 

4.The profit and loss account shall also contain or give by way of a note detailed 
information, showing separately the following payments provided or made during the 
financial year to the directors (including managing directors), or manager, if any, by the 
company, the subsidiaries of the company and any other person :- 

(i)managerial remuneration under section 198 of the Act paid or payable during the 
financial year to the directors (including managing directors), or  manager, if any ; 

(ii)Omitted 

(iii)Omitted 

(iv)Omitted 

(v)Omitted 

(vi)other allowances and commission including guarantee commission (details to be given) 
; 

(vii)any other perquisites or benefits in cash or in kind (stating approximate money value 
where practicable) ; 

(viii)pensions, etc., - 

          (a) pensions, 

          (b) gratuities, 

(c) payments from provident funds, in excess of own subscriptions and interest 
thereon, 
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          (d) compensation for loss of office, 

          (e) consideration in connection with retirement from office. 

 4A. The profit and loss account shall contain or give by way of a note a statement showing 
the computation of net profits in accordance with section 349 of the Act with relevant 
details of the calculation of the commissions payable by way of percentage of such profits 
to the directors (including managing directors), or manager (if any). 

4B.The profit and loss account shall further contain or give by way of a note detailed 
information in regard to amounts paid to the auditor, whether as fees, expenses or 
otherwise for services rendered – 

(a) as auditor ; 

(b) as adviser, or in any other capacity, in respect of – 

          (i) taxation matters ; 

          (ii) company law matters ; 

          (iii) management services ; and 

(c) in any other manner. 

4C.In the case of a manufacturing companies, the profit and loss account shall also contain, 
by way of a note in respect of each class of goods manufactured, detailed quantitative 
information in regard to the following, namely :- 

(a) the licensed capacity (where license is in force) ; 

(b) the installed capacity ; and 

(c) the actual production. 

Note 1.- The licensed capacity and installed capacity of the company as on the last date of 
the year to which the profit and loss account relates, shall be mentioned against items (a) 
and (b) above, respectively.  

Note 2. - Against item (c), the actual production in respect of the finished products meant 
for sale shall be mentioned. In cases where semi-processed products are also sold by the 
company, separate details thereof shall be given. 
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Note 3. - For the purpose of this paragraph, the items for which the company is holding 
separate industrial licenses shall be treated as separate classes of goods but where a 
company has more than one industrial license for production of the same item at different 
places or for expansion of the licensed capacity, the item covered by all such licenses shall 
be treated as one class. 

4D.The profit and loss account shall also contain by way of a note the following 
information, namely :-  

(a) value of imports calculated on C.I.F. basis by the company during the financial year in 
respect of :-  

          (i) raw materials ; 

          (ii) components and spare parts ; 

          (iii) capital goods ; 

(b) expenditure in foreign currency during the financial year on account of royalty, know-
how, professional, consultation fees, interest, and other matters ; 

(c) value of all imported raw materials, spare parts and components consumed during the 
financial year and the value of all indigenous raw materials, spare parts and components 
similarly consumed and the percentage of each to the total consumption ; 

(d) the amount remitted during the year in foreign currencies on account of dividends, with 
a specific mention of the number of non-resident shareholders, the number of shares held 
by them on which the dividends related ; 

(e) earnings in foreign exchange classified under the following heads, namely :- 

          (i)       export of goods calculated on F.O.B. basis ; 

          (ii)      royalty, know-how, professional and consultation fees ; 

          (iii)     interest and dividend ;  

          (iv)     other income, indicating the nature thereof. 

5. The Central Government may direct that a company shall not be obliged to show the 
amount set aside to provisions other than those relating to depreciation, renewal or 
diminution in value of assets, if the Central Government is satisfied that the information 
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should not be disclosed in the public interest and would prejudice the company, but subject 
to the condition that in any heading stating an amount arrived at after taking into account 
the amount set aside as such, the provision shall be so framed or marked as to indicate that 
fact. 

6. (1) Except in the case of the first profit and loss account laid before the company after 
the commencement of the Act, the corresponding amounts for the immediately preceding 
financial year for all items shown in the profit and loss account shall also be given in the 
profit and loss account. 

(2)The requirement in sub-clause (1) shall, in the case of companies preparing quarterly or 
half-yearly accounts, relate to the profit and loss account for the period which entered on 
the corresponding date of the previous year. 

 

Preparation of Final Accounts 

Final Accounts prepared under Double Account System consist of:- 1. Capital Account, i.e. 

Receipts and Expenditure on Capital A/c  2. General Balance Sheet  3. Revenue Account  4. 

Net Revenue Account. 

The Balance Sheet, in case of Double Account System, is split into two parts: 

(1) Capital Account, i.e., Receipts and Expenditure on Capital Account and (2) General 

Balance Sheet. 

(1) Receipts and Expenditure on Capital Account (CAPITAL ACCOUNT): 

It is also known as Capital Account. The aim of preparing this account is to give the general 

public full and complete information about raising and utilisation of fixed capital. It has 

four columns on left hand side and four columns on the right hand side. 

That is, it has three amount columns in each side. It is prepared in columnar form. On the 

receipt side (credit side) first amount column indicates the receipts up to the time of 

commencement of the accounting period, second amount column gives the receipts during 

the year and the third amount column is for total receipts up to the end of the current year. 

On the expenditure side (debit side), first amount column indicates the expenditure up to 

the commencement of the current year, second amount column gives details of the money 

spent during the year and the third column is for the total expenditure up to the end of the 

current year. 
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The balance of the Capital Account is carried down and shown as a separate item in the 

General Balance Sheet. In case of Electricity Supply Companies, the total capital receipts 

and the total expenditure are shown in the balance sheet. 

If the total of credit side of Capital Account is more than the total of debit side of this 

account, balance is transferred to the liability side of General Balance Sheet; and when the 

total of debit side of this account is more than the total of credit side of this account, the 

balance is transferred to the asset side of General Balance Sheet. 

Following is the specimen form of this account: 

 

(2) General Balance Sheet: 

Floating assets and floating liabilities are recorded in the General Balance Sheet. In all 

cases, except electricity supply companies, balance of Capital Account is transferred to 

General Balance Sheet. All other rules of preparation of General Balance Sheet are the same 

as those of Balance Sheet of a trading concern. 
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Given below is the form of General Balance Sheet: 

 

 

(3) Revenue Account: 

It is in the nature of Profit and Loss Account. Expenses are shown on the debit side and 

incomes are shown on the credit side. The balance of Revenue Account is transferred to Net 

Revenue Account. 

A specimen form of Revenue Account is given below: 
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(4) Net Revenue Account: 

This Account is similar to the ordinary Profit and Loss Appropriation Account. But in 

addition to the usual appropriation items, interest on loans, debentures, etc., is also debited 

to Net Revenue Account. And, interest received, if any, will be credited. In the case of 

Railways, rent payable on long leases is also treated as an appropriation item. In the case of 

Railways rent on leasehold is also debited to this account. 
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Accounting in a Computerized Environment 

(Unit-6) 

Features of Computerized Accounting Environment 

Computerised accounting system is a software that helps businesses to manage the big 

financial transactions, data, reports, and statements with high efficiency, speed, and better 

accuracy. Better quality work, lower operating costs, better efficiency, greater accuracy, 

minimum errors are some of the advantages of Computerized Accounting. Let us learn 

more about Computerized accounting environment. 
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Need for Computerised Accounting 

Its need arises from the benefits of speed, accuracy and lower cost of handling the business 

transactions. Also, it has the capability to record a large number of transactions with speed 

and accuracy. It allows quick and quality reporting because of its speed and accuracy. 

Manual accounting system requires large storage to keep accounting records, and 

vouchers. The requirement of books and stationery and books of accounts along with 

vouchers and documents is dependent on the volume of transactions. 

There is a need to reduce the paperwork and dispense with a large volume of books of 

account. This can be achieved working with the help of computerized accounting system. 

Features of Computerised Accounting Environment 

This Accounting System and its awareness among entities have become a necessity in the 

present environment. Businesses of whatever field and size are shifting from the practice of 

maintaining accounts manually. The manual process is more time-consuming and exposed 

to human error. 

Storage and retrieval of data and generation of a report cannot be ensured in real time in 

the traditional system. There is a need to shift to computerized accounting systems.  They 

have empowered business to project accurate information of financial performance. 

Simple and Integrated: It helps all businesses by automating and integrating all the 
business activities. Such activities may be sales, finance, purchase, inventory, and 
manufacturing etc. It also facilitates the arrangement of accurate and up-to-date business 
information in a readily usable form. 

Accuracy & Speed: Computerised accounting has customized templates for users which 
allows fast and accurate data entry. Thus, after recording the transactions it generates the 
information and reports automatically. 

Scalability: It has the flexibility to record the transactions with the changing volume of 
business. 

Instant Reporting: It can generate a quality report in real time because of high speed and 
accuracy. 

Security: Secured data and information can be kept confidential as compared to the 
traditional accounting system. 
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Quick Decision Making: This system Generates real-time, comprehensive MIS reports and 
ensures access to complete and critical information, instantly. 

Reliability: It generates the report with consistency and accuracy. Minimization of errors 
makes the system more reliable. 
 

Advantages of Computerised Accounting 

Better Quality Work: The accounts prepared with the use of computerized accounting 
system are usually uniform, neat, accurate, and more legible than a manual job. 

Lower Operating Costs: Computer is a reliable and time-saving device. The volume of job 
handled with the help of computerized system results in economy and lower operating 
costs. The overall operating cost of this system is low in comparison to the traditional 
system. 

Improves Efficiency: This system is more efficient in comparison to the traditional system. 
The computer makes sure speed and accuracy in preparing the records and accounts and 
thus, increases the efficiency of employees. 

Facilitates Better Control: From the management point of view, there is greater control 
possible and more information may be available with the use of the computer in accounting. 
It ensures efficient performance in accounting records. 

Greater Accuracy: Computerized accounting make sure accuracy in accounting records and 
statements. It prevents clerical errors and omissions in records. 

Relieve Monotony: Computerized accounting reduces the monotony of doing repetitive 
accounting jobs. Which are tiresome and time-consuming. 

Facilitates Standardization: Computerised accounting provides standardization 
of accounting routines and procedures. Therefore, it ensures standardization in the 
accounting records. 

Minimizes Mathematical Errors: While doing mathematical work with computers, errors 
are virtually eliminated unless the data is entered improperly in the system. 
 

Difference Between Manual and Computerized Accounting 

Manual Accounting 
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Manual Accounting, as the name signifies, is the paper-based accounting system, in which 

journal and ledger registers, vouchers, account books are used to store, classify and analyse 

financial transactions of an organization. It is often used by small businessmen, such as sole 

proprietors, shopkeepers, etc. to maintain the record of the business transactions, due to 

lower cost. 

One of the advantages of the manual accounting system is its easy accessibility. It is also 

characterised by confidentiality, which makes the sensitive information hacking free. 

Nevertheless, manual accounts can only be prepared correctly if the accountant possesses 

good knowledge of bookkeeping and accounting. 

Moreover, human error, such as incorrect recording of the transaction, the omission of the 

transaction, figure transposition and so forth, is likely to occur while the preparation of 

manual accounts which cannot be ignored. 

Computerized Accounting 

Computerized Accounting can be described as the accounting system that uses the 

computer system and pre-packaged, customised or tailored accounting software, to keep a 

record of financial transactions and generate financial statements, for analysis. 

Computerized Accounting system relies on the concept of a database. The accounting 

database is systematically maintained, with active interface wherein accounting application 

programs and reporting system are used. The two primary essentials are: 

Accounting framework: The framework comprises of principles and grouping structure 

for maintaining records. 

Operating procedure: There is a proper procedure for operating the system so as to store 

and process the data. 

Further, it requires front-end interface, back-end database, database processing and 

reporting system to store data in a database-oriented application. 

The merits of computerized accounting rely on its speed, accuracy, reliability, legibility, up-

to-date information and reports etc. 

 

 

Key Differences Between Manual and Computerized Accounting 

The difference between manual and computerized accounting is explained below in 

points: 
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i)Manual Accounting refers to the accounting method in which physical registers for 

journal and ledger, vouchers and account books are used to keep a record of the financial 

transactions. On the other hand, computerized accounting implies the method of 

accounting, which uses an accounting software or package, to record the monetary 

transactions, which happen to an organization. 

ii)In manual accounting, recording of the transaction can be done through the book of 

original entry, i.e. journal day book. Conversely, in computerized accounting, the 

transactions are recorded in the form of data, in the customised database. 

iii)In manual accounting, all the calculations, i.e. addition, subtraction, etc. with respect to 

the transactions are performed manually. In contrast, in computerized accounting, there is 

no need to perform calculations, as the calculations are performed by the computer 

automatically. 

iv)In manual accounting, a person remains involved all the time, with the accounts, to enter 

and update transactions, which is tedious and time-consuming too. As against, in 

computerized accounting, once the transaction is entered, it is automatically updated in all 

the accounts to which it relates and thus, the process is comparatively faster. 

v)In manual accounting method, if there occurs an error while entering and posting the 

transaction in the books of accounts, then adjustment entries can be passed, for getting 

accurate results. Moreover, adjustment entries are also made to comply with the matching 

principle, i.e. the expenses of the accounting period should match the respective revenues. 

On the other hand, in computerized accounting, to comply with the matching principles 

journal and vouchers are prepared, but adjustments entries are not passed for rectification 

of error unless the error is an error of principle. 

Vi)One of the merits of computerized accounting which manual accounting lacks is that in 

manual accounting there is no way to back up all the entries and financial statements, but 

in computerized accounting, the accounting records can be saved and backed up. 

vii)In manual accounting, the trial balance is prepared only when it is required, whereas, in 

computerized accounting, instant trial balance is provided on a daily basis. 

viii)In a manual accounting system, the financial statement is prepared at the end of the 

period, i.e. financial year. On the contrary, the financial statement is provided at the click of 

a button, in the computerized accounting system. 

 

 

Scope of Banking  
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What is Core Banking System (CBS)? 

The word Core Banking is used to describe the various services being offered by the 

banking system to its customers and this is done by the whole banking core branches. 

This facility makes it possible for the banks to get transfer their funds and other 

transactions to other core branch offices in a very easy and quick manner. Now, there is no 

need to get deposit and withdrawal of your cash in the same branch. You can deposit from 

any branch and get it withdrawal easily from the other branch. 

It gives the freedom of choice to the customer to get done the transactions completed in his 

own way. The person is not bound to anyone. 

There are various and most bolded facilities offered by the core banking system 

solutions are described below: 

Automatic teller machine or ATM 

◘◘ Electronic fund Transfers or EFT 

◘◘ Tele-banking 

◘◘ Internet banking 

◘◘ Branch clearing facility for banking branch offices 

Core banking systems are the heart of a bank. The absolute bank’s branches access 

applications from centralized data centres. 

Elements of Core Banking System 

 Making and servicing loans; 

Opening new accounts; 

 Processing cash deposits and withdrawals; 

Processing payments and cheques; 

Calculating interest; 

Customer relationship management (CRM) activities; 

 Managing customer accounts; 

 Establishing criteria for minimum balances, interest rates, number of withdrawals 

allowed and so on; 

 Establishing interest rates; and 
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 Maintaining records for all the bank’s transactions. 
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